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2. Corporate Structure 
 

2.1 State the full corporate name of the Issuer or, if the Issuer is an unincorporated 
entity, the full name under which the entity exists and carries on business and 
the address(es) of the Issuer's head and registered office. 

 
Telferscot Resources Inc. 

2702-401 Bay Street, Toronto ON M5H 2Y4 
 
2.2 State the statute under which the Issuer is incorporated or continued or 

organized or, if the Issuer is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the 
jurisdiction or foreign jurisdiction under which the Issuer is established and 
exists.   Describe the substance of any material amendments to the articles or 
other constating or establishing documents of the Issuer. 

 
Incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act 

 
2.3 Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships 

among the Issuer and the Issuer's subsidiaries.  For each subsidiary state  
 

See Appendix “A” 
 

(a) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the subsidiary 
represented by voting securities beneficially owned, or over which control 
or direction is exercised, by the Issuer;  

 
(b) the place of incorporation or continuance; and 

 
(c) the percentage of each class of restricted shares beneficially owned, or 

over which control or direction is exercised, by the Issuer. 
 

2.4 If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or is proposing an 
acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement, describe by 
way of diagram or otherwise these intercorporate relationships both before and 
after the completion of the proposed transaction. N/A 

 
2.5 Non-corporate Issuers and Issuers incorporated outside of Canada must 

describe how their governing legislation or constating documents differ 
materially from Canadian corporate legislation with respect to the corporate 
governance principles set out in Policy 4. N/A 

 
3. General Development of the Business 

See Appendix “B” 
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3.1 Describe the general development of the Issuer's business over its three most 
recently completed financial years and any subsequent period.  Include only 
major events or conditions that have influenced the general development of the 
Issuer's business.  If the business consists of the production or distribution of 
more than one product or the rendering of more than one kind of service, 
describe the principal products or services.  Also discuss changes in the 
business of the Issuer that are expected to occur during the current financial 
year of the Issuer. 

 
3.2 Disclose: 
 

(1) (a) any significant acquisition completed by the Issuer or any  significant 
probable acquisition proposed by the Issuer, for which financial 
statements would be required under National Instrument 41-101 
General Prospectus Requirements if this Listing Statement were a 
prospectus; and 

 
(b) any significant disposition completed by the Issuer during the most 

recently completed financial year or the current financial year for 
which pro forma financial statements would be required under 
National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements if this 
Listing Statement were a prospectus.  

 
(2)  Under paragraph (1) include particulars of 

 
(a) the nature of the assets acquired or disposed of or to be acquired or 

disposed of; 
 

(b) the actual or proposed date of each significant acquisition or 
significant disposition; 

 
(c) the consideration, both monetary and non-monetary paid, or to be 

paid, to or by the Issuer; 
 

(d) any material obligations that must be complied with to keep any 
significant acquisition or significant disposition agreement in good 
standing; 

 
(e) the effect of the significant acquisition or significant disposition on the 

operating results and financial position of the Issuer; 
 

(f) any valuation opinion obtained within the last 12 months required 
under Canadian securities legislation, a directive of a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority, or a requirement of a Canadian stock 
exchange or other Canadian market to support the value of the 
consideration received or paid by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 5 

 
  

for the assets, including the name of the author, the date of the 
opinion, the assets to which the opinion relates and the value 
attributed to the assets; and 

 
(g) whether the transaction is with a Related Party of the Issuer and if so, 

disclose the identity of the other parties and the relationship of the 
other parties to the Issuer. 

 
3.3 Discuss any trend, commitment, event or uncertainty that is both presently 

known to management and reasonably expected to have a material effect on 
the Issuer's business, financial condition or results of operations, providing 
forward-looking information based on the Issuer's expectations as of the date of 
the Listing Statement. 

 
 
4 Narrative Description of the Business 
 
4.1 General  

See Appendix “B” 
 

(1) Describe the business of the Issuer with reference to the reportable 
operating segments as defined in the Handbook and the Issuer's business 
in general.  Include the following for each reportable operating segment of 
the Issuer: 

 
(a) state the business objectives that the Issuer expects to accomplish in 

the forthcoming 12-month period; 
 
(b) describe each significant event or milestone that must occur for the 

business objectives in (a) to be accomplished and state the specific 
time period in which each event is expected to occur and the costs 
related to each event; 

 
(c) disclose the total funds available to the Issuer and the following 

breakdown of those funds: 
 

(i) the estimated consolidated working capital (deficiency) as of the 
most recent month end prior to filing the Listing Statement, and 

 
(ii) the total other funds, and the sources of such funds, available to 

be used to achieve the objectives and milestones set out in 
paragraphs (a) and (b); and 

 
(d) describe in reasonable detail and, if appropriate, using tabular form, 

each of the principal purposes, with approximate amounts, for which 
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the funds available described under the preceding paragraph will be 
used by the Issuer. 
 

 
(2) For principal products or services describe: 

 
a) the methods of their distribution and their principal markets; 
 
b) as dollar amounts or as percentages, for each of the two most recently 

completed financial years, the revenues for each category of principal 
products or services that accounted for 15 per cent or more of total 
consolidated revenues for the applicable financial year derived from: 

(i) sales or transfers to joint ventures in which your company is a 
participant or to entities in which your company has an 
investment accounted for by the equity method, 

(ii) sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause (i), 
outside the consolidated entity,  

(iii) sales or transfers to controlling shareholders; and 

(iv)  sales or transfers to investees. 
 

c) if not fully developed, the stage of development of the principal 
products or services and, if the products are not at the commercial 
production stage, 

 
(i) the timing and stage of research and development programs, 
 
(ii) the major components of the proposed programs, including an 

estimate of anticipated costs, 
 
(iii) whether the Issuer is conducting its own research and 

development, is subcontracting out the research and 
development or is using a combination of those methods, and 

 
(iv) the additional steps required to reach commercial production and 

an estimate of costs and timing. 
 

(3) Concerning production and sales, disclose: 
 

a) the actual or proposed method of production of products and if the 
Issuer provides services, the actual or proposed method of providing 
services; 
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b) the payment terms, expiration dates and terms of any renewal options 
of any material leases or mortgages, whether they are in good 
standing and, if applicable, that the landlord or mortgagee is a Related 
Person of the Issuer; 

 
c) specialized skill and knowledge requirements and the extent that the 

skill and knowledge are available to the Issuer; 
 

d) the sources, pricing and availability of raw materials, component parts 
or finished products; 

 
e) the importance, duration and effect on the segment of identifiable 

intangible properties such as brand names, circulation lists, copyrights, 
franchises, licences, patents, software, subscription lists and 
trademarks; 

 
f) the extent to which the business of the segment is cyclical or seasonal; 

 

g) a description of any aspect of the Issuer's business that may be 
affected in the 12 months following the date of the Listing Statement by 
renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts and the likely 
effect; 

 
h) the financial and operational effects of environmental protection 

requirements on the capital expenditures, earnings and competitive 
position of the Issuer in the current financial year and the expected 
effect, on future years; 

 
i) the number of employees, as at the most recent financial year end or 

as an average over that year, whichever is more relevant; 
 
j) any risks associated with foreign operations of the Issuer and any 

dependence of the segments upon the foreign operations; 
 
k) a description of any contract upon which your company's business is 

substantially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part of 
your company's products or services or to purchase the major part of 
your company's requirements for goods, services or raw materials, or 
any franchise or licence or other agreement to use a patent, formula, 
trade secret, process or trade name upon which your company's 
business depends; 

 
l) a description of any aspect of your company's business that you 

reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by 
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renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely 
effect. 

 
(4) Describe the competitive conditions in the principal markets and geographic 

areas in which the Issuer operates, including, if reasonably possible, an 
assessment of the Issuer's competitive position. 

 
(5) With respect to lending operations of an Issuer's business, describe the 

investment policies and lending and investment restrictions. 
 

(6) Disclose the nature and results of any bankruptcy, or any receivership or 
similar proceedings against the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries or any 
voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings by the Issuer or 
any of its subsidiaries, within the three most recently completed financial 
years or the current financial year. 

(7) Disclose the nature and results of any material restructuring transaction of 
the Issuer within the three most recently completed financial years or 
completed during or proposed for the current financial year. 

(8) If the Issuer has implemented social or environmental policies that are 
fundamental to the Issuer’s operations, such as policies regarding the 
Issuer’s relationship with the environment or with the communities in which 
the Issuer does business, or human rights policies, describe them and the 
steps the Issuer has taken to implement them. 

Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding 

4.2 In respect of any outstanding asset-backed securities, disclose the following 
information: N/A 

(1) Payment Factors - A description of any events, covenants, standards or 
preconditions that may reasonably be expected to affect the timing or 
amount of any payments or distributions to be made under the asset-backed 
securities. 

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - For the three most recently completed financial 
years of your company or the lesser period commencing on the first date on 
which your company had asset-backed securities outstanding, information 
on the pool of financial assets servicing the asset-backed securities relating 
to 

(a) the composition of the pool as of the end of each financial year or partial 
period; 

(b) income and losses from the pool on at least an annual basis or such 
shorter period as is reasonable given the nature of the underlying pool of 
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assets; 

(c) the payment, prepayment and collection experience of the pool on at 
least an annual basis or such shorter period as is reasonable given the 
nature of the underlying pool of assets; 

(d) servicing and other administrative fees; and 

(e) any significant variances experienced in the matters referred to in 
paragraphs (a), (b), (c), or (d). 

(3) Investment Parameters - The investment parameters applicable to 
investments of any cash flow surpluses. 

(4) Payment History - The amount of payments made during the three most 
recently completed financial years or the lesser period commencing on the 
first date on which your company had asset-backed securities outstanding, 
in respect of principal and interest or capital and yield, each stated 
separately, on asset-backed securities of your company outstanding. 

(5) Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the 
passage of time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest 
or capital of asset-backed securities. 

 
(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding 

asset-backed securities of your company, the percentage of the pool of 
financial assets servicing the asset-backed securities represented by 
obligations of each principal obligor and whether the principal obligor has 
filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a Form 10-K, Form 10-KSB or Form 20F 
in the United States. 

 
4.3 For Issuers with a mineral project, disclose and insert here the information required 

by Appendix A for each property material to the Issuer. N/A 
 
4.4 For Issuers with Oil and Gas Operations disclose and insert here the information 

required by Appendix B (in tabular form, if appropriate). N/A 
 
5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 

See Appendix “A” 
 
5.1 Annual Information — Provide the following financial data for the Issuer in 

summary form for each of the last three completed financial years and any 
period subsequent to the most recent financial year end for which financial 
statements have been prepared, accompanied by a discussion of the factors 
affecting the comparability of the data, including discontinued operations, 
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changes in accounting policies, significant acquisitions or significant 
dispositions and major changes in the direction of the Issuer's business: 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues; 

 
(b) income from continuing operations, in total and on a per share basis and 

fully diluted per share basis, calculated in accordance with the Handbook; 
 

(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per share and fully diluted per share 
basis, calculated in accordance with the Handbook; 

 
(d) total assets; 

 
(e) total long-term financial liabilities as defined in the Handbook; 

 
(f) cash dividends declared per share for each class of share; and 
 
(g) such other information as would enhance an investor’s understanding of 

the Issuer’s financial condition and results of operations and would 
highlight other trends in financial condition and results of operations. 

 
5.2 Quarterly Information — For each of the eight most recently completed quarters 

ending at the end of the most recently completed financial year, provide the 
information required in paragraphs (a), (b) and (b) of Section 5.1. N/A 

 
5.3 Dividends – disclose: N/A 
 

(a) any restriction that could prevent the Issuer from paying dividends; and 
 

(b) the Issuer's dividend policy and, if a decision has been made to change 
the dividend policy, the intended change in dividend policy. 

 
5.4 Foreign GAAP — An Issuer may present the selected consolidated financial 

information required in this section on the basis of foreign GAAP if: N/A 
 

(a) the Issuer's primary financial statements have been prepared using 
foreign GAAP; and 

 
(b) if the Issuer is required under applicable securities legislation to have 

reconciled its financial statements to Canadian GAAP at the time of filing 
its financial statements or the Issuer has otherwise done so, a cross 
reference to the notes to the financial statements containing the 
reconciliation of the financial statements to Canadian GAAP is included. 
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6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 
 
Annual MD&A 
 

6.1 Date - Specify the date of the MD&A. The date of the MD&A must be no 
earlier than the date of the auditor’s report on the financial statements for 
the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year. See Appendix “B” 

 
6.2 Overall Performance - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows. Discuss known trends, 
demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that are reasonably likely 
to have an effect on the Issuer’s business. Compare the Issuer’s 
performance in the most recently completed financial year to the prior 
year’s performance. The analysis should address at least the following: 
See Appendix “B” 

 
(a) operating segments that are reportable segments as those terms 

are used in the Handbook; 
 
(b) other parts of the business if 
 

(i) they have a disproportionate effect on revenues, income or 
cash needs, or 

 
(ii) there are any legal or other restrictions on the flow of funds 

from one part of the Issuer’s business to another;  
 
(c) industry and economic factors affecting the Issuer’s performance; 
 
(d) why changes have occurred or expected changes have not 

occurred in the Issuer’s financial condition and results of 
operations; and 

 
(e) the effect of discontinued operations on current operations. 

 
Selected Annual Financial Information 
 
6.3 Provide the following financial data derived from the Issuer’s financial 

statements for each of the three most recently completed financial years: 
See Appendix “A” 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues; 
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(b) income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary 
items, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; 

 
(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-

share basis; 
 
(d) total assets; 
 
(e) total long-term financial liabilities; and 
 
(f) cash dividends declared per-share for each class of share. 

 
6.4 Variations - Discuss the factors that have caused period to period 

variations including discontinued operations, changes in accounting 
policies, significant acquisitions or dispositions and changes in the 
direction of the Issuer’s business, and any other information the Issuer 
believes would enhance an understanding of, and would highlight trends 
in, financial condition and results of operations. See Appendix “A” 

 
6.5 Results of Operations - Discuss management’s analysis of the Issuer’s 

operations for the most recently completed financial year, including: See 
Appendix “B” 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues by operating business segment, 

including any changes in such amounts caused by selling prices, 
volume or quantity of goods or services being sold, or the 
introduction of new products or services; 

 
(b) any other significant factors that caused changes in net sales or 

total revenues; 
 
(c) cost of sales or gross profit; 
 
(d) for Issuers that have significant projects that have not yet 

generated operating revenue, describe each project, including the 
Issuer’s plan for the project and the status of the project relative to 
that plan, and expenditures made and how these relate to 
anticipated timing and costs to take the project to the next stage of 
the project plan; 

 
(e) for resource Issuers with producing mines, identify milestones such 

as mine expansion plans, productivity improvements, or plans to 
develop a new deposit; 
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(f) factors that caused a change in the relationship between costs and 
revenues, including changes in costs of labour or materials, price 
changes or inventory adjustments; 

 
(g) commitments, events, risks or uncertainties that you reasonably 

believe will materially affect the Issuer’s future performance 
including net sales, total revenue and income or loss before 
discontinued operations and extraordinary items; 

 
(h) effect of inflation and specific price changes on the Issuer’s net 

sales and total revenues and on income or loss before discontinued 
operations and extraordinary items; 

 
(i) a comparison in tabular form of disclosure you previously made 

about how the Issuer was going to use proceeds (other than 
working capital) from any financing, an explanation of variances 
and the impact of the variances, if any, on the Issuer’s ability to 
achieve its business objectives and milestones; and 

 
(j) unusual or infrequent events or transactions. 

 
6.6 Summary of Quarterly Results - Provide the following information in 

summary form, derived from the Issuer’s financial statements, for each of 
the eight most recently completed quarters: N/A 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues; 
 
(b) income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary 

items, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and 
 
(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-

share basis. 
 

Discuss the factors that have caused variations over the quarters 
necessary to understand general trends that have developed and the 
seasonality of the business. 

 
 

6.7 Liquidity - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s liquidity, including: See 
Appendix “B” 

 
(a) its ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash 

equivalents, in the short term and the long term, to maintain the 
Issuer’s capacity, to meet the Issuer’s planned growth or to fund 
development activities; 
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(b) trends or expected fluctuations in the Issuer’s liquidity, taking into 
account demands, commitments, events or uncertainties; 

 
(c) its working capital requirements; 
 
(d) liquidity risks associated with financial instruments; 
 
(e) if the Issuer has or expects to have a working capital deficiency, 

discuss its ability to meet obligations as they become due and how 
you expect it to remedy the deficiency; 

 
(f) balance sheet conditions or income or cash flow items that may 

affect the Issuer’s liquidity; 
 
(g) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer 

funds to the Issuer and the effect these restrictions have had or 
may have on the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations; and 

 
(h) defaults or arrears or anticipated defaults or arrears on 
 

(i) dividend payments, lease payments, interest or principal 
payment on debt, 

(ii) debt covenants during the most recently completed financial 
year, and 

(iii) redemption or retraction or sinking fund payments; and 
 

(i) details on how the Issuer intends to cure the default or arrears. 
 
 
6.8 Capital Resources - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s capital resources, 
including N/A 

 
(a) commitments for capital expenditures as of the date of the Issuer’s 

financial statements including: 
 
(i) the amount, nature and purpose of these commitments, 
 
(ii) the expected source of funds to meet these commitments, 

and 
 
(iii) expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain the 

Issuer’s capacity, to meet the Issuer’s planned growth or to 
fund development activities; 
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(b) known trends or expected fluctuations in the Issuer’s capital 
resources, including expected changes in the mix and relative cost 
of these resources; and 

 
(c) sources of financing that the Issuer has arranged but not yet used. 
 

 
6.9 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements - Discuss any off-balance sheet 

arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or 
future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Issuer 
including, without limitation, such considerations as liquidity and capital 
resources. This discussion shall include their business purpose and 
activities, their economic substance, risks associated with the 
arrangements, and the key terms and conditions associated with any 
commitments, including: See Appendix “B” 

 
(a) a description of the other contracting part(ies); 
 
(b) the effects of terminating the arrangement; 
 
(c) the amounts receivable or payable, revenues, expenses and cash 

flows resulting from the arrangement; 
 
(d) the nature and amounts of any other obligations or liabilities arising 

from the arrangement that could require the Issuer to provide 
funding under the arrangement and the triggering events or 
circumstances that could cause them to arise; and 

 
(e) any known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect 

the availability or benefits of the arrangement (including any 
termination) and the course of action that management has taken, 
or proposes to take, in response to any such circumstances. 

 
6.10 Transactions with Related Parties - Discuss all transactions involving 
related parties as defined by the Handbook. See Appendix “B” 

 
6.11 Fourth Quarter - Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or items that 

affected the Issuer’s financial condition, cash flows or results of 
operations, including extraordinary items, year-end and other adjustments, 
seasonal aspects of the Issuer’s business and dispositions of business 
segments. See Appendix “B” 

 
6.12 Proposed Transactions - Discuss the expected effect on financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows of any proposed asset or 
business acquisition or disposition if the Issuer’s board of directors, or 
senior management who believe that confirmation of the decision by the 
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board is probable, have decided to proceed with the transaction. Include 
the status of any required shareholder or regulatory approvals. N/A 

 
6.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption - Discuss and 

analyze any changes in the Issuer’s accounting policies, including: N/A 
 

(a) for any accounting policies that management has adopted or 
expects to adopt subsequent to the end of the most recently 
completed financial year, including changes management has 
made or expects to make voluntarily and those due to a change in 
an accounting standard or a new accounting standard that you do 
not have to adopt until a future date:  
 
(i) describe the new standard, the date the Issuer required to 

adopt it and, if determined, the date the Issuer plans to adopt 
it, 

 
(ii) disclose the methods of adoption permitted by the 

accounting standard and the method management expects 
to use, 

 
(iii) discuss the expected effect on the Issuer’s financial 

statements, or if applicable, state that management cannot 
reasonably estimate the effect, and 

 
(iv) discuss the potential effect on the Issuer’s business, for 

example technical violations or default of debt covenants or 
changes in business practices; and 

 
(b) for any accounting policies that management has initially adopted 

during the most recently completed financial year,  
 
(i) describe the events or transactions that gave rise to the 

initial adoption of an accounting policy, 
 
(ii) describe the accounting principle that has been adopted and 

the method of applying that principle, 
 
(iii) discuss the effect resulting from the initial adoption of the 

accounting policy on the Issuer’s financial condition, 
changes in financial condition and results of operations, 

 
(iv) if the Issuer is permitted a choice among acceptable 

accounting principles, 
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(A) state that management made a choice among 
acceptable alternatives, 

 
(B) identify the alternatives, 
 
(C) describe why management made the choice that you 

did, and 
 
(D) discuss the effect, where material, on the Issuer’s 

financial condition, changes in financial condition and 
results of operations under the alternatives not 
chosen; and 

 
(v) if no accounting literature exists that covers the accounting 

for the events or transactions giving rise to management’s 
initial adoption of the accounting policy, explain 
management’s decision regarding which accounting principle 
to use and the method of applying that principle. 

 
6.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments - For financial instruments 

and other instruments: N/A 
 

(a) discuss the nature and extent of the Issuer’s use of, including 
relationships among, the instruments and the business purposes 
that they serve; 

 
(b) describe and analyze the risks associated with the instruments; 
 
(c) describe how management manages the risks in paragraph (b), 

including a discussion of the objectives, general strategies and 
instruments used to manage the risks, including any hedging 
activities; 

 
(d) disclose the financial statement classification and amounts of 

income, expenses, gains and losses associated with the 
instrument; and 

 
(e) discuss the significant assumptions made in determining the fair 

value of financial instruments, the total amount and financial 
statement classification of the change in fair value of financial 
instruments recognized in income for the period, and the total 
amount and financial statement classification of deferred or 
unrecognized gains and losses on financial instruments. 

 
Interim MD&A 
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N/A 
 
6.15 Date - Specify the date of the interim MD&A. 
 
6.16 Updated Disclosure - Interim MD&A must update the Issuer’s annual 

MD&A for all disclosure required by sections 6.2 to 6.14 except sections 
6.3 and 6.4. This disclosure must include: 

 
(a) a discussion of management’s analysis of 
 

(i) current quarter and year-to-date results including a 
comparison of results of operations and cash flows to the 
corresponding periods in the previous year; 

 
(ii) changes in results of operations and elements of income or 

loss that are not related to ongoing business operations; 
 
(iii) any seasonal aspects of the Issuer’s business that affect its 

financial condition, results of operations or cash flows; and 
 
(b) a comparison of the Issuer’s interim financial condition to the 

Issuer’s financial condition as at the most recently completed 
financial year-end. 

 
 
6.17 Additional Disclosure for Issuers without Significant Revenue: 
 

(a) unless the information is disclosed in the financial statements to 
which the annual or interim MD&A relates, an Issuer that has not 
had significant revenue from operations in either of its last two 
financial years must disclose a breakdown of material components 
of: 

 
(i) capitalized or expensed exploration and development costs, 
 
(ii) expensed research and development costs, 
 
(iii) deferred development costs, 
 
(iv) general and administration expenses, and 
 
(v) any material costs, whether capitalized, deferred or expensed, 

not referred to in paragraphs (i) through (iv); 
 

(b) if the Issuer’s business primarily involves mining exploration and 
development, the analysis of capitalized or expensed exploration 
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and development costs must be presented on a property-by-
property basis; and 

 
(c) the disclosure in the annual MD&A must be for the two most 

recently completed financial years and the disclosure in the interim 
MD&A for the each year-to-date interim period and the comparative 
period presented in the interim statements. 

6.18 Description of Securities: 

(a) disclose the designation and number or principal amount of: 

(i) each class and series of voting or equity securities of the 
Issuer for which there are securities outstanding, 

(ii) each class and series of securities of the Issuer for which 
there are securities outstanding if the securities are 
convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, voting or 
equity securities of the Issuer, and 

(iii) subject to subsection (b), each class and series of voting or 
equity securities of the Issuer that are issuable on the 
conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of 
the Issuer; 

 

(b) if the exact number or principal amount of voting or equity securities 
of the Issuer that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or 
exchange of outstanding securities of the Issuer is not 
determinable, the Issuer must disclose the maximum number or 
principal amount of each class and series of voting or equity 
securities that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or 
exchange of outstanding securities of the Issuer and, if that 
maximum number or principal amount is not determinable, the 
Issuer must describe the exchange or conversion features and the 
manner in which the number or principal amount of voting or equity 
securities will be determined; and 

(c) the disclosure under subsections (a) and (b) must be prepared as 
of the latest practicable date.  

6.19 Provide Breakdown: 

(a) if the Issuer has not had significant revenue from operations in 
either of its last two financial years, disclose a breakdown of 
material components of: 

(i) capitalized or expensed exploration and development costs, 
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(ii) expensed research and development costs, 

(iii) deferred development costs, 

(iv) general and administrative expenses, and 

(v) any material costs, whether capitalized, deferred or 
expensed, not referred to in paragraphs (i) through (iv); 

(b) present the analysis of capitalized or expensed exploration and 
development costs required by subsection (a) on a property-by-
property basis, if the Issuer’s business primarily involves mining 
exploration and development; and 

(c) provide the disclosure in subsection (a) for the following periods: 

(i) the two most recently completed financial years, and 

(ii) the most recent year-to-date interim period and the 
comparative year-to-date period presented in the interim 
financial statements included, if any. 

Subsection (a) does not apply if the information required under that 
subsection has been disclosed in the financial statements. 

 
6.20 Negative cash-flow - If the Issuer had negative operating cash flow in its 

most recently completed financial year for which financial statements have 
been included, disclose: 

 
the period of time the proceeds raised are expected to fund operations; 
 
the estimated total operating costs necessary for the Issuer to achieve its 

stated business objectives during that period of time; and 
 
the estimated amount of other material capital expenditures during that 

period of time. 
 

6.21 Additional disclosure for Issuers with significant equity investees: 
 

if the Issuer has a significant equity investee 

(i) summarized information as to the assets, liabilities and 
results of operations of the equity investee, and 

(ii) the Issuer’s proportionate interest in the equity investee and 
any contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee 
that might significantly affect the Issuer’s share of earnings; 
and 
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provide the disclosure in subsection (a) for the following periods 

(i) the two most recently completed financial years, and 

(ii) the most recent year-to-date interim period and the 
comparative year-to-date period presented in the interim 
financial statements included in the Listing Statement, if 
any. 

Subsection (a) does not apply if: 

(i) the information required under that subsection has been 
disclosed in the financial statements included, or 

(ii) the Issuer includes separate financial statements of the 
equity investee for the periods referred to in subsection (b). 

 
7. Market for Securities 
 
7.1 Identify the exchange(s) and quotation and trade reporting system(s) on which 

the Issuer's securities are listed and posted for trading or quoted. See Appendix 
“B” 

 
8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 

N/A 
 
8.1 Describe any material change in, and the effect of the material change on, the 

share and loan capital of the Issuer, on a consolidated basis, since the date of 
the comparative financial statements for the Issuer's most recently completed 
financial year contained in the Listing Statement. 

 
9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 

N/A 
 
9.1 State, in tabular form, as at a specified date not more than 30 days before the 

date of the Listing Statement, information as to options to purchase securities 
of the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer that are held by: 

 
(a) all executive officers and past executive officers of the Issuer as a group 

and all directors and past directors of the Issuer who are not also 
executive officers as a group, indicating the aggregate number of 
executive officers and the aggregate number of directors to whom the 
information applies, without naming them; 
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(b) all executive officers and past executive officers of all subsidiaries of the 
Issuer as a group and all directors and past directors of those subsidiaries 
who are not also executive officers of the subsidiary as a group, in each 
case, without naming them and excluding individuals referred to in 
paragraph (a), indicating the aggregate number of executive officers and 
the aggregate number of directors to whom the information applies; 

 
(c) all other employees and past employees of the Issuer as a group, without 

naming them; 
 

(d) all other employees and past employees of subsidiaries of the Issuer as a 
group, without naming them;  

 
(e) all consultants of the Issuer as a group, without naming them; and 

 
(f) any other person or company, including the underwriter, naming each 

person or company. 
 
10. Description of the Securities 
 

N/A 
 
10.1 General - State the description or the designation of each class of equity 

securities and describe all material attributes and characteristics, including: 
 

a) dividend rights; 

b) voting rights; 

c) rights upon dissolution or winding-up; 

d) pre-emptive rights; 

e) conversion or exchange rights; 

f) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, 

g) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 

h) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities and 

any other material restrictions; and 

i) provisions requiring a securityholder to contribute additional capital. 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 23 

 
  

 
10.2 Debt securities - If debt securities are being listed, describe all material attributes 

and characteristics of the indebtedness and the security, if any, for the debt, 
including: 

 
(a) provisions for interest rate, maturity and premium, if any; 

 
(b) conversion or exchange rights; 

 
(c) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, 

 
(d) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 

 
(e) the nature and priority of any security for the debt securities, briefly 

identifying the principal properties subject to lien or charge; 
 

(f) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities, the 
incurring of additional indebtedness and other material negative 
covenants, including restrictions against payment of dividends and 
restrictions against giving security on the assets of the Issuer or its 
subsidiaries, and provisions as to the release or substitution of assets 
securing the debt securities; 

 
(g) the name of the trustee under any indenture relating to the Issuer and 

 
(h) any financial arrangements between the Issuer and any of its affiliates or 

among its affiliates that could affect the security for the indebtedness. 
 
10.4 Other securities - If securities other than equity securities or debt securities are 

being listed, describe fully the material attributes and characteristics of those 
securities. 

 
10.5 Modification of terms: 
 

(a) describe provisions about the modification, amendment or variation of any 
rights attached to the securities being listed; and 

 
(b) if the rights of holders of securities may be modified otherwise than in 

accordance with the provisions attached to the securities or the provisions 
of the governing statute relating to the securities, explain briefly. 

10.6 Other attributes: 

 (a) if the rights attaching to the securities being listed are materially limited 
or qualified by the rights of any other class of securities, or if any other 
class of securities ranks ahead of or equally with the securities being 
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listed, include information about the other securities that will enable 
investors to understand the rights attaching to the securities being listed; 
and 

 (b) if securities of the class being listed may be partially redeemed or 
repurchased, state the manner of selecting the securities to be redeemed 
or repurchased. 

 
10.7 Prior Sales - State the prices at which securities of the same class as the 

securities to be listed have been sold within the 12 months before the date of 
the Listing Statement, or are to be sold, by the Issuer or any Related Person 
and the number of securities of the class sold or to be sold at each price. 

 
 
10.8 Stock Exchange Price: 
 

a) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are listed on 
a Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide the 
price ranges and volume traded on the Canadian stock exchange or 
market on which the greatest volume of trading generally occurs; 

 
b) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are not listed 

on a Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide 
the price ranges and volume traded on the foreign stock exchange or 
market on which the greatest volume of trading generally occurs; and 

 
c) information is to be provided on a monthly basis for each month or, if 

applicable, part month, of the current quarter and the immediately 
preceding quarter and on a quarterly basis for the next preceding seven 
quarters. 

 
 
 
11. Escrowed Securities 
 

N/A 
 
11.1 State as of a specified date within 30 days before the date of the Listing 

Statement, in substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities 
of each class of securities of the Issuer held, to the knowledge of the Issuer, in 
escrow (which, for the purposes of this Form includes any securities subject to 
a pooling agreement) and the percentage that number represents of the 
outstanding securities of that class. In a note to the table, disclose the name of 
the depository, if any, and the date of and conditions governing the release of 
the securities from escrow. 
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 ESCROWED SECURITIES 
 

Designation of class held in 
escrow 
 

 Number of securities 
 held in escrow 

Percentage of 
class 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
12. Principal Shareholders 
 

N/A 
 
12.1 (1) Provide the following information for each principal shareholder of the 

Issuer as of a specified date not more than 30 days before the date of the  
Listing Statement: 

 
(a) Name; 

 
(b) The number or amount of securities owned of the class to be listed; 

 
(c) Whether the securities referred to in subsection 12(1)(b) are owned 

both of record and beneficially, of record only, or beneficially only; 
and 

 
(d) The percentages of each class of securities known by the Issuer to 

be owned. 

(2) If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or has 
proposed an acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or 
arrangement, indicate, to the extent known, the holding of each person of 
company described in paragraph (1) that will exist after giving effect to the 
transaction. 

 
(3) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, more than 10 per cent of any class of 

voting securities of the Issuer is held, or is to be held, subject to any voting 
trust or other similar agreement, disclose, to the extent known, the 
designation of the securities, the number or amount of the securities held 
or to be held subject to the agreement and the duration of the agreement.  
State the names and addresses of the voting trustees and outline briefly 
their voting rights and other powers under the agreement. 

 
(4) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, any principal shareholder is an associate 

or affiliate of another person or company named as a principal 
shareholder, disclose, to the extent known, the material facts of the 
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relationship, including any basis for influence over the Issuer held by the 
person or company other than the holding of voting securities of the 
Issuer. 

 
(5) In addition to the above, include in a footnote to the table, the required 

calculation(s) on a fully-diluted basis. 
 
13 Directors and Officers 
 

N/A 
 
13.1 List the name and municipality of residence of each director and executive 

officer of the Issuer and indicate their respective positions and offices held with 
the Issuer and their respective principal occupations within the five preceding 
years. 

 
13.2 State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director 

and when his or her term of office will expire. 
 
13.3 State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities 

of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, 
or over which control or direction is exercised by all directors and executive 
officers of the Issuer as a group. 

 
13.4 Disclose the board committees of the Issuer and identify the members of each 

committee. 
 

13.5 If the principal occupation of a director or officer of the Issuer is acting as an 
officer of a person or company other than the Issuer, disclose the fact and state 
the principal business of the person or company. 

 
13.6 Disclose if a director or officer of the Issuer or a shareholder holding a sufficient 

number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, 
is, or within 10 years before the date of the Listing Statement has been, a 
director or officer of any other Issuer that, while that person was acting in that 
capacity: 

 
(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied 

the other Issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, 
for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, state the fact and describe 
the basis on which the order was made and whether the order is still in 
effect; 

 
(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer 

ceased to be a director or executive officer, in the company being the 
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subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for 
a period of more than 30 consecutive days, state the fact and describe the 
basis on which the order was made and whether the order is still in effect; 

 
(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 

bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or 

 
(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became 

bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold its assets, state the fact. 

 
13.7 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they 

were imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances 
that gave rise to the settlement agreement, if a director or officer of the Issuer, 
or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Issuer to affect materially 
the control of the Issuer, has: 

 
(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to 

Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory 
authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority; or 

 
(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or 

regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a 
reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

 
13.8 Despite section 13.7, no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement 

entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be 
important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 
13.9 If a director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities 

of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, or a personal holding 
company of any such persons has, within the 10 years before the date of the 
Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or 
officer, state the fact. 
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13.10 Disclose particulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest between 
the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer and a director or officer of the Issuer or 
a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 
13.11 Management — In addition to the above provide the following information for 

each member of management: 
 

(a) state the individual's name, age, position and responsibilities with the 
Issuer and relevant educational background; 

 
(b) state whether the individual works full time for the Issuer or what 

proportion of the individual's time will be devoted to the Issuer; 
 

(c) state whether the individual is an employee or independent contractor of 
the Issuer; 

 
(d) state the individual's principal occupations or employment during the five 

years prior to the date of the Listing Statement, disclosing with respect to 
each organization as of the time such occupation or employment was 
carried on: 

 
(i) its name and principal business, 

 
(ii) if applicable, that the organization was an affiliate of the Issuer, 

 
(iii) positions held by the individual, and 

 
(iv) whether it is still carrying on business, if known to the individual; 

 
(e) describe the individual's experience in the Issuer's industry; and 

 
(f) state whether the individual has entered into a non-competition or non-

disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 
 
 
14. Capitalization 

See Appendix “B” 

14.1 Prepare and file the following chart for each class of securities to be listed:  
 
Issued Capital 
 Number of 

Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-
diluted) 

%of 
Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued  
(fully diluted) 
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Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A)      
     
Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
Related Person of the 
Issuer, or by persons or 
companies who beneficially 
own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer 
(or who would beneficially 
own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer 
upon exercise or conversion 
of other securities held) (B) 

    

     
Total Public Float (A-B)     
     
Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to 
resale restrictions, 
including restrictions 
imposed by pooling or 
other arrangements or in 
a shareholder agreement 
and securities held by 
control block holders (C)  

    

     
Total Tradeable Float (A-
C) 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons 
other than persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List 
registered holders only. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities     
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as 
registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an 
intermediary where the Issuer has been given written confirmation of 
shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is sufficient if the intermediary 
provides a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each line item below; 
names and holdings of specific beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If 
an intermediary or intermediaries will not provide details of beneficial holders, 
give the aggregate position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities     
     
Unable to confirm     
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are 
persons enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital  chart.  
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities     
     
     

 
14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into 

any class of listed securities 
 
Description of Security 
(include conversion /  
exercise terms, including 
conversion / exercise price) 

Number of convertible / 
exchangeable securities 
outstanding 

Number of listed securities 
issuable upon conversion / 
exercise 

   
 
14.3 Provide details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not 

included in section 14.2. 
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15. Executive Compensation 
 
N/A 
 
15.1 Attach a Statement of Executive Compensation from Form 51-102F6 or any 

successor instrument and describe any intention to make any material changes 
to that compensation. 

 
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 

N/A 
 
16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 

 
 (1) Complete the above table for the aggregate indebtedness outstanding as at a 

date within thirty days before the date of the information circular entered into in 
connection with: 

 
(a) a purchase of securities; and 

 
(b) all other indebtedness. 

 
(2) Report separately the indebtedness to: 
 

(a) the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries (column (b)); and 
 
(b) another entity if the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, 

support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement 
or understanding provided by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries 
(column (c)), 

of all officers, directors, employees and former officers, directors and employees 
of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries. 

AGGREGATE INDEBTEDNESS ($) 

Purpose 
To the Issuer or 
its Subsidiaries To Another Entity 

   

(a) (b) (c)    

Share purchases      

Other   
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(3) “Support agreement” includes, but is not limited to, an agreement to provide 
assistance in the maintenance or servicing of any indebtedness and an agreement 
to provide compensation for the purpose of maintaining or servicing any 
indebtedness of the borrower. 

 
16.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under (1) Securities 

Purchase and (2) Other Programs 
 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS UNDER (1) SECURITIES 
PURCHASE AND (2) OTHER PROGRAMS 

Name and 
Principal 
Position 

Involvement 
of Issuer or 
Subsidiary 

Largest 
Amount 
Outstanding 
During [Most 
Recently 
Completed 
Financial 
Year] 
($) 

Amount 
Outstanding 
as at [the 
date of the 
Form] 
($) 

Financially 
Assisted 
Securities 
Purchases 
During [Most 
Recently 
Completed 
Financial 
Year] 
(#) 

Security 
for 
Indebtedness 

Amount 
Forgiven 
During 
[Most 
Recently 
Completed 
Financial 
Year] 

($) 

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) 

Securities Purchase Programs 
       
       

Other Programs 
       
       
 

(1) Complete the above table for each individual who is, or at any time during the 
most recently completed financial year was, a director or executive officer of the 
Issuer, each proposed nominee for election as a director of the Issuer, and each 
associate of any such director, executive officer or proposed nominee, 

(a) who is, or at any time since the beginning of the most recently 
completed financial year of the Issuer has been, indebted to the 
Issuer or any of its subsidiaries, or 

(b) whose indebtedness to another entity is, or at any time since the 
beginning of the most recently completed financial year has been, the 
subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other 
similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Issuer or any of 
its subsidiaries, 
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and separately disclose the indebtedness for security purchase programs and 
all other programs. 
 

( 2 )  Note the following: 
 
Column (a) – disclose the name and principal position of the borrower. If the 
borrower was, during the year, but no longer is a director or executive officer, 
state that fact. If the borrower is a proposed nominee for election as a director, 
state that fact. If the borrower is included as an associate, describe briefly the 
relationship of the borrower to an individual who is or, during the year, was a 
director or executive officer or who is a proposed nominee for election as a 
director, name that individual and provide the information required by this 
subparagraph for that individual. 

Column (b) – disclose whether the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer is the 
lender or the provider of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or 
similar arrangement or understanding. 

Column (c) – disclose the largest aggregate amount of the indebtedness 
outstanding at any time during the last completed financial year. 

Column (d) – disclose the aggregate amount of indebtedness outstanding as 
at a date within thirty days before the date of the information circular. 

Column (e) – disclose separately for each class or series of securities, the 
sum of the number of securities purchased during the last completed financial 
year with the financial assistance (security purchase programs only). 

Column (f) – disclose the security for the indebtedness, if any, provided to 
the Issuer, any of its subsidiaries or the other entity (security purchase 
programs only). 

Column (g) – disclose the total amount of indebtedness that was forgiven at 
any time during the last completed financial year. 

( 3 )  Supplement the above table with a summary discussion of: 

(a) the material terms of each incidence of indebtedness and, if applicable, of 
each guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar 
arrangement or understanding, including: 

(i) the nature of the transaction in which the indebtedness was 
incurred, 

(ii) the rate of interest, 
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(iii) the term to maturity, 

(iv) any understanding, agreement or intention to limit recourse, and 

(v) any security for the indebtedness; 

(b) any material adjustment or amendment made during the most recently 
completed financial year to the terms of the indebtedness and, if 
applicable, the guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar 
arrangement or understanding. Forgiveness of indebtedness reported in 
column (g) of the above table should be explained; and 

 
(c) the class or series of the securities purchased with financial assistance or 

held as security for the indebtedness and, if the class or series of 
securities is not publicly traded, all material terms of the securities, 
including the provisions for exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption, 
retraction and dividends. 

 
17.  Risk Factors 

 
See Appendix “B” 

17.1 Disclose risk factors relating to the Issuer and its business, such as cash flow 
and liquidity problems, if any, experience of management, the general risks 
inherent in the business carried on by the Issuer, environmental and health 
risks, reliance on key personnel, regulatory constraints, economic or political 
conditions and financial history and any other matter that would be likely to 
influence an investor’s decision to purchase securities of the Issuer. 

17.2  If there is a risk that securityholders of the Issuer may become liable to make 
an additional contribution beyond the price of the security, disclose that risk. 

17.3 Describe any risk factors material to the Issuer that a reasonable investor 
would consider relevant to an investment in the securities being listed and that 
are not otherwise described under section 17.1 or 17.2. 

 
18. Promoters 
 
N/A 
 
18.1 For a person or company that is, or has been within the two years immediately 

preceding the date of the Listing Statement, a promoter of the Issuer or of a 
subsidiary of the Issuer, state: 

 
(a) the person or company's name; 
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(b) the number and percentage of each class of voting securities and equity 
securities of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, 
directly or indirectly, or over which control is exercised; 

 
(c) the nature and amount of anything of value, including money, property, 

contracts, options or rights of any kind received or to be received by the 
promoter directly or indirectly from the Issuer or from a subsidiary of the 
Issuer, and the nature and amount of any assets, services or other 
consideration therefor received or to be received by the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer in return; and 

 
(d) for an asset acquired within the two years before the date of the Listing 

Statement or thereafter, or to be acquired, by the Issuer or by a subsidiary 
of the Issuer from a promoter: 

 
(i) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by 

which the consideration has been or will be determined, 
 

(ii) the person or company making the determination referred to in 
subparagraph (i) and the person or company's relationship with the 
Issuer, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate of the Issuer or of the 
promoter, and 

 
(iii) the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost of 

the asset to the promoter. 

18.2 (1) If a promoter referred to in section 18.1 is, as at the date hereof, or was 
within 10 years before the date hereof, a director, chief executive officer, 
or chief financial officer of any person or company that: 

a) was subject to an order that was issued while the promoter 
was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or 
chief financial officer; or 

b) was subject to an order that was issued after the promoter ceased 
to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and 
which resulted from an event that occurred while the promoter was 
acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer, 

state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made and whether 
the order is still in effect. 

 
(2)  For the purposes of section 18.2 (1), “order” means: 

 
(a) a cease trade order; 
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(b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or 

 
(c) an order that denied the relevant person or company access to 

any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a 
period of more than 30 consecutive days. 

 (3)  If a promoter referred to in section 18.2 (1): 

(a) is, as at the date hereof, or has been within the 10 years before the 
date hereof, a director or executive officer of any person or company 
that, while the promoter was acting in that capacity, or within a year 
of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or 

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the 
promoter, state the fact. 

 (4)  Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which 
they were imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement and the 
circumstances that gave rise to the settlement agreement, if a promoter 
referred to in section 18.2(1) has been subject to: 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial 
and territorial securities legislation or by a provincial and territorial 
securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement 
agreement with a provincial and territorial securities regulatory 
authority; or 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory 
body that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable 
investor in making an investment decision. 

 (5)  Despite section 18.2(4), no disclosure is required of a settlement 
agreement entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure 
would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in making 
an investment decision. 

 
19. Legal Proceedings 
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N/A 
19.1 Describe any legal proceedings material to the Issuer to which the Issuer or a 

subsidiary of the Issuer is a party or of which any of their respective property is 
the subject matter and any such proceedings known to the Issuer to be 
contemplated, including the name of the court or agency, the date instituted, 
the principal parties to the proceedings, the nature of the claim, the amount 
claimed, if any, if the proceedings are being contested, and the present status 
of the proceedings. 

 
19.2 Regulatory actions - Describe any: 
 

(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Issuer by a court relating to 
provincial and territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory 
authority within the three years immediately preceding the date hereof; 

 
(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body 

against the Issuer necessary to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all 
material facts relating to the securities being listed; and 

 
(c) settlement agreements the Issuer entered into before a court relating to 

provincial and territorial securities legislation or with a securities 
regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date 
hereof. 

 
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 
See Appendix “B” 
 
20.1 Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct or 

indirect, of any of the following persons or companies in any transaction within 
the three years before the date of the Listing Statement, or in any proposed 
transaction, that has materially affected or will materially affect the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer: 

 
(a) any director or executive officer of the Issuer; 
 
(b) a person or company that is the direct or indirect beneficial owner of, or 

who exercises control or direction over, more than 10 percent of any class 
or series of your outstanding voting securities; and 

 
(c) an associate or affiliate of any of the persons or companies referred to in 

paragraphs (a) or (b). 
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21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
See Appendix “A” 
 
21.1 State the name and address of the auditor of the Issuer. 
 
21.2 For each class of securities, state the name of any transfer agent, registrar, 

trustee, or other agent appointed by the Issuer to maintain the securities 
register and the register of transfers for such securities and indicate the location 
(by municipality) of each of the offices of the Issuer or transfer agent, registrar, 
trustee or other agent where the securities register and register of transfers are 
maintained or transfers of securities are recorded.   

 
22. Material Contracts 
 
See Appendix “B” 
 
22.1 Give particulars of every material contract, other than contracts entered into in 

the ordinary course of business that was entered into within the two years 
before the date of Listing Statement by the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 
22.2 If applicable, attach a copy of any co-tenancy, unitholders' or limited 

partnership agreement. 
 
23 Interest of Experts 
 
N/A 
 
23.1 Disclose all direct or indirect interests in the property of the Issuer or of a 

Related Person of the Issuer received or to be received by a person or 
company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by 
the person or company and who is named as having prepared or certified a part 
of the Listing Statement or prepared or certified a report or valuation described 
or included in the Listing Statement. 

 
23.2 Disclose the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, by a person or company 

referred to in section 23.1 of any securities of the Issuer or any Related Person 
of the Issuer. 

 
23.3 For the purpose of section 23.2, if the ownership is less than one per cent, a 

general statement to that effect shall be sufficient. 
 
23.4 If a person, or a director, officer or employee of a person or company referred 

to in section 23.1 is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a 
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director, officer or employee of the Issuer or of any associate or affiliate of the 
Issuer, disclose the fact or expectation. 

 
24. Other Material Facts 
 
N/A 
 
24.1 Give particulars of any material facts about the Issuer and its securities that are 

not disclosed under the preceding items and are necessary in order for the 
Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts 
relating to the Issuer and its securities. 

 
25. Financial Statements 
 
See Appendix “A” 
 
25.1  Provide the following audited financial statement for the Issuer: 
 

(a) copies of all financial statements including the auditor's reports required 
to be prepared and filed under applicable securities legislation for the 
preceding three years as if the Issuer were subject to such law; and 

 
(b)  a copy of financial statements for any completed interim period of the 

current fiscal year. 
 

25.2 For Issuers re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change provide 
 

(a) the information required in sections 5.1 to 5.3 for the target; 
 
(b) financial statement for the target prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus 
Requirements as if the target were the Issuer; 

(c) pro-forma consolidated financial statements for the New Issuer giving 
effect to the transaction for: 

 
(i) the last full fiscal year of the Issuer, and 

(ii) any completed interim period of the current fiscal year.  
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The first certificate below must be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company 
who is a promoter of the Issuer and two directors of the Issuer. In the case of an Issuer 
re-qualifying following a fundamental change, the second certificate must also be signed 
by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a promoter of the target and two 
directors of the target. 

 
CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, (full legal name of the 
Issuer), hereby applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on CNSX.  The 
foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to 
(full legal name of the Issuer). It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and 
does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to 
prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the 
circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto 

this 2nd day of May, 2012. 

 

“James Garcelon”   

Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

James Garcelon   

   

Promoter (if applicable)  Director 

   

   

Director   

[print or type names beneath signatures] 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE TARGET 

 

The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating 
to (full legal name of the target). It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and 
does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to 
prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the 
circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto 

this 2nd  day of May, 2012. 

 

“James Garcelon”   

Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

James Garcelon   

   

Promoter (if applicable)  Director 

   

   

Director   

[print or type names beneath signatures] 
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TELFERSCOT RESOURCES INC. 
  

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
  

As at December 31, 2011 and 2010 
  

(Stated in $CAD) 
  

 

  

   

 December 31 December 31       

 2011 2010       

  (Note 21)       

 
        

ASSETS 
      

Current:  
      

 Cash  $ 751,419  $ 204,604        

 Term deposits   580,855   -        

 Accounts receivable   (Note 5)  32,626   7,429        

 Prepaid expenses   6,478   -        

 Advances to DRC operations (Note 6)  249,489   -        

 Cash in trust  (Note 7)  -   637,446        

 

 

       

 $ 1,620,867  $ 849,479        

 

        

LIABILITIES 
      

Current: 
      

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (Note 9) $ 94,817  $ 22,419        

 Prepaid share subscriptions   -   98,466        
 

        

  94,817   120,885        
 

        

       

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY       

 Share capital  (Note 10)  2,943,920   813,000        

 Reserve for warrants (Note 10)  23,500   16,000        

 Reserve for share based payments (Note 10)  119,167   -        

 Accumulated deficit   (1,552,183)   (100,406)        

 Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (8,354)   -        
 

        

  1,526,050   728,594        
 

        

 $ 1,620,867  $ 849,479        
 

        

Going concern  (Note 1)       

Commitments  (Note 19)       

Subsequent events (Note 20)       

See accompanying notes 
 
Approved on behalf of the Board: 
 
 
"Gerry Gravina", Director 

 
"Stephen Coates", Director 



 

4 

 
  

TELFERSCOT RESOURCES INC.   

Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss   

Year ended December 31, 2011 and period from May 31, 2010 (date of incorporation) to 
December 31, 2010 

  

(Stated in $CAD)   

 

  

 
  

 December 31 December 31       

 2011 2010       

  (Note 21)       

   

      

Revenue       

 Interest income  $ 10,157  $ -        
 

  

      

       

Expenses       

 Exploration expenditures (Note 8(c))  1,095,389   50,496        

 Share-based compensation   119,167   -        

 Professional fees   96,933   34,628        

 Corporate overhead   99,874   13,500        

 Listing fees, transfer agent and other   31,323   -        

 Insurance   10,768   -        

 Office and general   7,952   1,782        

 Foreign exchange loss   528   -        
 

  

      

  1,461,934   100,406        
 

  

      

 
      

Net loss  $ (1,451,777)  $ (100,406)        
 

        

 

Basic and diluted loss per share  (Note 14) $ (0.047)  $ (0.008)        
 

        

 

 

       

Comprehensive income (loss) 
Net loss  $ (1,451,777)  $ (100,406)        

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations   (8,354)   -        
 

  

      

Comprehensive loss  $ (1,460,131)  $ (100,406)        

 
        

See accompanying notes 
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TELFERSCOT RESOURCES INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity 

Period from May 31, 2010 to December 31, 2011 

(Stated in CAD) 

 Share Capital          

 

Number 

of shares 

 

Amount 

 

Warrants 

 

Share 

based 

payments 

 

Accumulated 

deficit 

 

Accumulated 

other 

comprehensive 

loss 

 

Total 

Balance at May 31, 2010 

 

- 

 

$  

 

- 

 

$  

 

- 

 

$  

 

- 

 

$  

 

- 

 

$  

 

- 

 

$  

 

- 

Private placements for cash 

      

19,390,000  

          

799,000  

                

-  

                      

-  

                    

-  

                       

-  

           

799,000  

Portion of private placements ascribed to warrants - 

          

(16,000)  

        

16,000  

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

                     

-  

 

Issued in consideration for acquisition of 

Stephens Lake  

        

2,500,000  

 

          

30,000  

 

               

-  

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

            

30,000  

Net loss for the year 

                    

-  

                    

-  

                

-  

                      

-  

 

        

(100,406) 

 

                      

-  

          

(100,406) 

Currency translation adjustment 

                    

-  

                    

-  

                

-  

                      

-  

                    

-  

                       

-  

                      

-  

Balance at December 31, 2010 

      

21,890,000  

          

813,000  

        

16,000  

                      

-  

         

(100,406) 

                         

-  

           

728,594  

Private placements for cash 

        

6,635,000  

          

663,500  

                

-  

                      

-  

                    

-  

                       

-  

           

663,500  

 

Issued in consideration for acquisition of 

1830953 Ontario Inc. 

        

4,674,200  

 

         

467,420  

 

        

7,500  

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

          

474,920  

Private placement for cash  4,000,000   1,000,000            -          -             -              -     1,000,000  

Share-based compensation -  -  -  119,167  -  -  119,167 

Currency translation adjustment 

                    

-  

                    

-  

                

-  

                      

-  

                    

-  

                

(8,354) 

             

(8,354) 

Net loss for the year 

                    

-  

                    

-  

                

-  

                      

-  

       

(1,451,777) 

                       

-  

       

(1,451,777) 

Balance at December 31, 2011 

      

37,199,200  

 

$  

      

2,943,920  

 

$  

      

23,500  $ 

            

119,167  

 

$  

     

(1,552,183) 

 

$  

              

(8,354) 

 

$  

        

1,526,050  

See accompanying notes 
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TELFERSCOT RESOURCES INC.   

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows   

Year ended December 31, 2011 and period from May 31, 2010 (date of incorporation) to 
December 31, 2010 

  

(Stated in $CAD)   

 

  

   

 December 31 December 31       

 2011 2010       

  (Note 21)       

 
        

Operating activities       

 Net loss  $ (1,451,777)  $ (100,406)        

 Add (deduct) items not affecting cash:          

 Exploration expenditures funded by share issuance   474,920   30,000        

 Share based payments   119,167   -        

 Unrealized foreign exchange loss   (8,354)   -        

 

  
      

   (866,044)   (70,406)        

Change in non-cash working capital items        

 Accounts receivable   (25,197)   (7,429)        

 Prepaid expenses   (6,478)   -        

 Advances to DRC operations  (249,489)   -        

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   72,398   22,419        

 

  
      

   (1,074,810)   (55,416)        

 

  
      

       

Investing activities       

 Term deposits   (580,855)   -        

 Change in cash in trust   637,446   (637,446)        

 
        

  56,591  (637,446)       

 

  
      

       

Financing activities       

 Prepaid share subscriptions   (98,466)   98,466        

 Net proceeds from issuance of share capital and warrants   1,663,500   799,000        

 
        

  1,565,034  897,466       
 

        

Increase in cash  546,815   204,604        

Cash, beginning of period  204,604   -        

 
        

Cash, end of period $ 751,419  $ 204,604        

 

        

See accompanying notes 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN  
 

(a) Nature of operations 
 

The company was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act on May 31, 2010 

and is engaged in the acquisition and exploration of resource properties, currently having interests 

in mining licences in Manitoba and the Democratic Republic of Congo ("DRC"). It has registered 

offices at 401 Bay Street, Suite 2702, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5H 2Y4, is a reporting issuer in 

the Provinces of Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta, and Manitoba, and trades under the symbol 

"TFS" on the CNSX exchange. 

 

(b) Development stage enterprise 
 

As the company is a development stage enterprise, it has not yet determined whether its properties 

contain reserves that are economically recoverable. Its ability to recover amounts from these 

properties is dependent upon a number of factors including environmental risks, legal and 

political risks, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, confirmation of the company's 

interest in the underlying properties, the ability of the company to obtain necessary financing to 

complete the development and future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of 

the properties.  The company has yet to generate any revenue from operations. 

 

Although the company has taken steps to verify title to the mineral properties on which it is 

conducting exploration and in which it has an interest, these procedures do not guarantee the 

company’s title.  Although management is not aware of any such agreements, transfers or 

defects, property title may be subject to unregistered prior agreements, claims or transfers and title 

may be affected by undetected defects.  Assets located outside of North America are subject to 

the risk of foreign investment, including currency exchange fluctuations and restrictions and local 

political instability and uncertainty. 

 

The company faces risks and uncertainties including: (i) the inability to obtain the financing 

necessary to complete the development of its properties, (ii) realization of proceeds from the sale 

of its properties, or (iii) the company's licenses, permits or concessions being revoked as a result of 

title disputes, a failure to comply with agreements or security issues preventing the safe 

exploration and development of any properties under license. 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN - CONTINUED 
(c) Going concern 

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared using International 
Financial Reporting Standards accounting principles applicable to a going concern. Accordingly 
they do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary should the company be unable to 
continue as a going concern and, therefore, be required to realize its assets and liquidate its 
liabilities and commitments in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different 
from those in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Such adjustments could be 
material. 
 
As at December 31, 2011, the company has no source of operating cash and has a deficit of 
$1,552,183 (2010 - $100,406). Operations for the periods presented have been funded solely from 
the issue of share capital. Comprehensive loss for the year was $1,460,131 (2010 - $100,406). 
 
While management believes that it will be able to secure the necessary financing to continue 
operations into the future, there is no certainty that these and other strategies will be sufficient to 
permit the company to continue beyond the foreseeable future as such strategies are dependent 
upon continued support from its shareholder base. 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
(a) Statement of compliance 

 

These consolidated financial statements of the company have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”).  
 
The adoption of IFRS resulted in changes to the accounting policies as compared with the most 
recent annual financial statements prepared under Canadian GAAP.  The accounting policies set 
out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented.  They also have been applied in 
the preparation of an opening IFRS statement of financial position as at January 1, 2010, as 
required by IFRS 1, First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS 1”).  The impact of the transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS is explained in note 21. 
 

(b) Basis of presentation 

 

 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by the 
measurement at fair value of financial assets classified as fair value through profit and loss 
(“FVTPL”). 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
the consolidated financial statements. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 
(c) Consolidation 

 

  
All entities in which the company has a controlling interest, specifically when it has the power to 
direct the financial and operational policies of these companies to obtain benefit from their 
operations, are fully consolidated. 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the company and the 
consolidated accounts of its wholly-owned subsidiary, 1830953 Ontario Inc. (“Numco”), an 
Ontario company (see note 4 asset acquisition). 
 
Intercompany balances and any unrealized gains and losses or income and expenses arising from 
intercompany transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
 

(d) Functional currency and foreign currency translation 
  
 Functional and presentation currency  

 
The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the functional 
currency of the corporate offices located in Canada. The functional currency of the DRC 
operations is the US dollar. 
 
Foreign currency translation  
 
Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded into the functional currency at the 
transaction date exchange rate. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign 
currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at the end of the 
reporting period with all foreign currency adjustments being expensed.  
 
Financial statements of the DRC operations, for which the functional currency is the US dollar, 
are translated into Canadian dollars, the presentation currency, as follows: all asset and liability 
accounts (including non-monetary and capital items) are translated at the year-end exchange 
rate and all earnings and expense accounts and cash flow statement items are translated at 
average exchange rates for the year. The resulting translation gains and losses are recorded as 
foreign currency translation adjustments in other comprehensive income. 

  
(e) Cash 
  

Cash consists of deposits held with banks. 
 

(f) Term deposits 
  

Term deposits are highly liquid investments with original terms to maturity greater than three 
months. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 
(g) Mineral properties 
  

All acquisition and exploration costs, net of incidental revenues, are charged to operations in 
the period incurred (see also note 21 re transitional IFRS provisions) until such time as it has been 
determined that a property has economically recoverable reserves, in which case subsequent 
exploration costs and the costs incurred to develop a property are capitalized into property, 
plant and equipment (“PPE”). On the commencement of commercial production, depletion of 
each mining property will be provided on a unit-of-production basis using estimated resources 
as the depletion base. 

  
(h) Financial instruments 
 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”), loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments (“HTM”), or available-for-sale 
financial assets (“AFS”), as appropriate at initial recognition and, except in very limited 
circumstances, the classification is not changed subsequent to initial recognition. The 
classification is determined at initial recognition and depends on the nature and purpose of the 
financial asset.  A financial asset is derecognized when its contractual rights to the asset’s cash 
flows expire or if substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset are transferred. 

Financial assets at FVTPL 

A financial asset is classified as FVTPL when the financial asset is held-for-trading or it is 
designated upon initial recognition as an FVTPL.  A financial asset is classified as 
held-for- trading if (1) it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing 
in the near term; (2) it is part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the 
company manages and has an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or (3) it is a derivative 
that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.  Financial assets at FVTPL are 
carried in the consolidated statements of financial position at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.  Transaction 
costs are expensed as incurred.  The company has classified cash and cash equivalents and 
marketable securities as FVTPL. 

Loans and receivables 

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables.  Loans and 
receivables are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are subsequently carried at amortized cost less 
losses for impairment.  The impairment loss of receivables is based on a review of all 
outstanding amounts at period end.  Bad debts are written off during the period in which they 
are identified.  Amortized cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and 
transaction costs.  Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as 
through the depreciation process.  The company has classified accounts receivable and due 
from related party as loans and receivables. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 

Financial instruments - continued 

AFS financial assets 
Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as AFS financial 
assets.  They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value generally recognized in other 
comprehensive loss and accumulated in the AFS reserve.  Impairment losses are recognized in 
the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.  Purchases and sales of AFS 
financial assets are recognized on settlement date with any change in fair value between trade date 
and settlement date being recognized in the AFS reserve.  On sale, the cumulative gain or loss 
recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive 
income.  The company has not designated any of its financial assets as AFS. 

Impairment of financial assets 
The company assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired.  A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired, if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated. 
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the asset’s original effective rate. 
The carrying amount of all financial assets, excluding accounts receivable, is directly reduced by 
the impairment loss.  The carrying amount of trade receivables is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account.  Associated allowances are written off when there is no realistic prospect of 
future recovery and all collateral has been realized or has been transferred to the company. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance 
account.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in the 
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. A provision for impairment is made in 
relation to accounts receivable, and an impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss when there is objective evidence that the Company 
will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms.  With the exception of 
AFS equity instruments, if in a subsequent period the amount of impairment loss decreases and 
the decrease relates to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss. On the date of impairment reversal, the carrying amount of the financial 
asset cannot exceed its amortized cost had the impairment not been recognized.  

Effective interest method 
The effective interest method calculates the amortized cost of a financial instrument asset or 
liability and allocates interest income over the corresponding period.  The effective interest rate 
is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial asset 
or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.  Income is recognized on an effective interest 
basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as FVTPL. 



 

TELFERSCOT RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2011 and period from May 31, 2010 (date of incorporation) to 
December 31, 2010 
(Stated in $CAD) 

 

 

12 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 

Financial instruments - continued 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities as FVTPL, or other financial liabilities, as 
appropriate upon initial recognition. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to the initial recognition, other financial 
liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  The company’s 
other financial liabilities include accounts payables and accrued liabilities and due to related party. 

Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the 
near term.  This category includes derivative financial instruments (including separated 
embedded derivatives) unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.  Gains or 
losses on liabilities classified as FVTPL are recognized in the consolidated statement of loss and 
comprehensive loss.  The company’s financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include the warrant 
liability. 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statements of financial position are classified 
using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

Level 1 - valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities; 

Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 
derived from prices); and 

Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs).  

 
(j) 

 
Provisions 

 

A provision is recognized on the consolidated statements of financial position when the 
company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the 
effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
 
Environmental rehabilitation provision 
The company's activities could give rise to obligations for environmental rehabilitation which can 
include facilities dismantling, removal, treatment of waste materials, monitoring, compliance with 
environmental regulations, security and other site-related costs required to perform the 
rehabilitation work. Any current expenditures regarding the environmental rehabilitation are 
charged to the cost of the project. Provisions for rehabilitation are periodically adjusted by the 
company, when applicable. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 
(k) Deferred taxes 
  

 

Deferred taxes are recorded for temporary differences existing at closing date between the tax 
base value of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount in the consolidated statements of 
financial position.   
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the expected tax rates for the year during which 
the asset will be realized or the liability settled, based on tax rates (and tax regulations) enacted or 
substantially enacted by the closing date. They are reviewed at the end of each year, in line with 
any changes in applicable tax rates. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of tax 
losses and unused tax credits, insofar as it is probable that a taxable profit will be available, or 
when a current tax liability exists, to make use of those deductible temporary differences, tax loss 
carry-forwards and unused tax credits, except where the deferred tax asset associated with the 
deductible temporary difference is generated by initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction which is not a business combination, and which, at the transaction date, does not 
impact neither earnings, nor tax income or loss. 
 
Current tax and deferred tax are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items 
that are credited or charged directly to equity. 

  
(l) Share based payments 
 The company offers a share option plan for its directors, officers, employees and consultants. 

Each tranche in an award is considered a separate award with its own vesting period and grant 
date fair value. Fair value of each tranche is measured using the Black- Scholes option pricing 
model. Compensation expense is recognized over the tranche's vesting period by increasing 
contributed surplus based on the number of awards expected to vest. Any consideration paid 
on exercise of share options is credited to capital stock. The contributed surplus resulting from 
share based payment is transferred to capital stock when the options are exercised. 
For equity settled transactions, the company measures goods or services received at their fair 
value, unless that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case the company measures 
their value by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. 

(m) Earnings per share 
 Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss applicable by the weighted average 

number of common shares outstanding during the reporting period.  Diluted loss per share is 
computed by dividing the net loss by the sum of the weighted average number of common 
shares issued and outstanding during the reporting period and all additional common shares 
for the assumed exercise of options and warrants outstanding for the reporting period, if 
dilutive. The treasury stock method is used for the assumed proceeds upon the exercise of 
options and warrants that are used to purchase common shares at the average market price 
during the reporting period.  As the Company is incurring losses, basic and diluted loss per 
share are the same since including the exercise of outstanding options and share purchase 
warrants in the diluted loss per share calculation would be anti-dilutive. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 
(n) Measurement uncertainty 
 The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make 

certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. These consolidated   
financial statements include estimates that, by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of such 
estimates are pervasive throughout the consolidated financial statements, and may require 
accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.  These estimates are based on historical experience, 
current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Critical accounting estimates 
Significant assumptions about the future that management has made that could result in a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual 
results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 

(i) the recoverability of costs incurred to purchase mineral property interests; 
 (ii) the inputs used in accounting for share based payment transactions and in valuation of 

warrants included in marketable securities; and 
(iii) management assumption of no material provisions or obligations, based on the facts 

and circumstances that existed during the period. 
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRS STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

The company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been issued but are not 
yet effective and determined that the following may have an impact on the company: 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB on November 12, 2009 and will replace 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”).  IFRS 9 replaces the multiple 
rules in IAS 39 with a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost 
or fair value and a new mixed measurement model for debt instruments having only two categories: 
amortized cost and fair value.  The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial 
instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial assets.  The new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the 
multiple impairment methods in IAS 39.  IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013.  The company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial 
statements. 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) establishes principles for the presentation and 
preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities. IFRS 
10 supersedes IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” and SIC-12 “Consolidated – 
Special Purpose Entities” and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier 
application is permitted. The company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its 
consolidated financial statements. 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”) establishes principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint 
arrangement.  IFRS 11 supersedes the current IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” and SIC-13 “Jointly 
Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers” and is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted. The company is currently evaluating 
the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”) applies to entities that have an interest in a 
subsidiary, a joint arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity.  IFRS 12 is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  Earlier application is permitted. The company is 
currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements (“IFRS 13”) defines fair value, sets out in a single IFRS framework for 
measuring fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements.  IFRS 13 applies to IFRS 
that require or permit fair value measurements or disclosures about fair value measurements (and 
measurements, such as fair value less costs to sell, based on fair value or disclosures about those 
measurements), except in specified circumstances.  IFRS 13 is to be applied for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2015.  Earlier application is permitted.  The company is currently evaluating the 
impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 

 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: disclosures (“IFRS 7”).  The Accounting Standards Board ["AcSB"] 
approved the incorporation of the IASB's amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and 
the related amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards into 
Part I of the Handbook.  These amendments were made to Part I in January 2011 and are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011.  Earlier application is permitted. The amendments 
relate to required disclosures for transfers of financial assets to help users of the financial statements 
evaluate the risk exposures relating to such transfers and the effect of those risks on an entity's financial 
position.  The company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 7 on its consolidated financial 
statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRS STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS - CONTINUED 
 
IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface 
Mine applies to all types of natural resources that are extracted using the surface mining activity 
process. IFRIC 20 permits capitalization of stripping costs if all of the three criteria are met: probability 
of economic benefit, identifiability of ore body and measurability of stripping costs. IFRIC 20 provides 
a more detailed cost allocation guidance based on a relevant production measure that allows allocation 
between inventory produced and the stripping activity asset. IFRIC 20 may represent a change in 
accounting practice for some Canadian mining entities. IFRIC 20 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRIC 20 on 
its consolidated financial statements. 
 

4.  ASSET ACQUISITION  
 
(a) On July 18, 2011, the company completed its acquisition of Numco a copper cobalt exploration 

company with rights and obligations to earn into an exploration project located in the Kolwezi 
district (“Kolwezi Project”) in the Democratic Republic of Congo (“DRC”). In consideration for 
the acquisition of Numco, the company issued 4,674,200 common shares valued at $0.10 per 
share and 375,000 common share purchase warrants valued at $0.02 per share. The warrants are 
exercisable at $0.25 per share until May 1, 2012.  

  
The value of the shares and warrants issued, and net assets and liabilities assumed, totalling 
$474,920, has been attributed to the underlying Kolwezi Project license (the “License”) held by 
Numco. The value attributed to the License was expensed as exploration costs. 
 

(b) On July 18, 2011, through the acquisition described in note 4(a), the company acquired a 17% 
interest in the License. A further 13% interest was earned through the post-acquisition 
expenditure of CAD $515,000 to bring its ownership in the License to 30% as of December 31, 
2011. The company has a right to increase its ownership in the License to 60% through the 
expenditure of a further CAD $4-million prior to September 2013. Once the company reaches 
60% ownership, either party has an option to force the acquisition of the remaining 40% 
ownership of the License.  
 
The company has not assigned a value to these options as there can be no certainty that the initial 
60% ownership will be achieved. 
 

 
5.  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE  
 

   

      
  2011 2010       

 
 

        

 Accrued interest receivable - term deposits  $ 6,041  $ -        

 HST recoverable   26,585   7,429        
 

 
        

  $ 32,626  $ 7,429        
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6.  ADVANCES TO DRC OPERATIONS  
 

   

      

During the year, the company made advances to its DRC operations, which at year end remained 

unexpended in the amount of $249,489. These advances were primarily for future exploration 

expenditures and deposits on a new mining license (see note 20).  

 

7.  CASH IN TRUST  
 

   

      

 

 2011 2010 
      

 
 

  

      

 Cash held in trust  $ -  $ 637,446        

 
 

        

 

The cash held in trust as at December 31, 2010 (by the company's lawyer) represents proceeds from the 

sale of share subscriptions and prepaid share subscriptions. All of the funds were released to the 

company in February, 2011. 

 

8.  MINERAL LICENCES AND EXPENDITURES       

 

As at December 31, 2011, the company has an interest in two mineral licences. The details of each 

respective licence are as follows: 

 

(a) Kolwezi Project, Democratic Republic of Congo: 

 

As detailed in note 4, the company has acquired an interest in a copper-cobalt exploration permit 

in the DRC. The basic terms of the permit are as follows: 

 

Exploration permit:  PR 9090 

Permitted exploration:  Copper, Cobalt and Gold 

Permit Holder:  Miniere du Congo SPRL 

Effective date:  November 10, 2007 

Initial term:   5 years (ending November 9, 2012) 

Renewal:   Exploration permits may be renewed twice for 5 additional years 

provided the holder of the exploration permit relinquishes, on each such 

renewal, 50% of the perimeter  

Area:   95 carres (approximately 80 km sq) 

Location:   Less than 10 km east of Kolwezi, Katanga Province, DRC 
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8.  MINERAL LICENCES – CONTINUED 
  

     

(b) Stephens Lake Project, Province of Manitoba 
 
The Stephens Lake property is located in northern Manitoba, about 750 km north of Winnipeg, 175 
km east - northeast of Thompson and centred about 20 km northwest of Gillam. The Stephens Lake 
mineral exploration license covers an area of approximately 12,000 hectares and is currently valid 
until February 5, 2013. Stephens Lake is an early stage base metals exploration project. Exploration 
carried out by previous companies is limited to airborne geophysical surveys and one field program 
where several lines of soil sampling were performed. The 2010 expenditures of $32,223 have been 
expensed under IFRS (see note 21). 
 
The company is obligated to an annual work requirement of CAD $1.50 per hectare to be completed 
by the anniversary date of the license, which is February 5. In lieu of actual work being performed for 
2011, the company made a cash payment of CAD $18,511 to the Province of Manitoba. 
 
Subsequent to year-end, with respect to the obligations to annual work requirement for 2012 of CAD 
$3.00 per hectare to be completed by the anniversary date of the license, which is February 5 arising 
by the anniversary date of February 5, 2012, the company made a further cash payment of CAD 
$37,023 to the Province of Manitoba in lieu of actual work being performed (see note 20). 
 
This rate increases to $4.00 from 2013 – 2015. 
 
 

(c) Mineral Licence Expenditures      
  2011 2010 
 

 
  

 Kolwezi Project: 
 Acquisition $ 590,228  $             -  
 Services 30,989 - 
 Fieldwork 210,179 - 
 Administration 18,936 - 
 Consulting 93,242 - 
 Travel and accommodation 110,889 - 
 General 22,415 - 
 Stephens Lake Project:   
 Acquisition - 32,223 
 Fieldwork  18,511  18,273 

 
   

  $ 1,095,389  $ 50,496  
 

 

  

 
9.  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES  
 

   

  2011 2010 
 

 
  

 Balances made up of: 
   Trade accounts payable  $ 39,817  $ 22,419  
   Accrued liabilities   55,000   -  
 

 
  

  $ 94,817  $ 22,419  
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10.  SHARE CAPITAL 
  
Authorized: unlimited number of common voting shares 

 
   

      

 

 Shares $ 
      

 
 

  

      

 

Issued and outstanding: 
      

 Balance - May 31, 2010   -  $ -  
      

 

Private placements (Note 10(a))  19,390,000   799,000  
      

 

Portion allocated to warrants   -   (16,000)  
      

 

Acquisition of Stephens Lake project (Note 10(a))   2,500,000   30,000  
      

 
 

  

      

 Balance - December 31, 2010  21,890,000   813,000  
      

 

Private placements (Note 10(c))  10,635,000   1,663,500  
      

 

Acquisition of 1830953 Ontario Inc.   4,674,200   467,420  
      

 
 

  

      

 Balance - December 31, 2011  37,199,200  $ 2,943,920  
      

 
 

        

 

(a) The company completed a share split on December 17, 2010 which resulted in the issuance of 

two common shares for every previously issued pre-split share. During the period ended 

December 31, 2010, the following placements occurred (all references to common shares 

represent the post-share split shares of the company): 

 

 (i) The company issued 8,000,000 units at a price of $0.01 per unit. The units were each 

comprised of one common share of the company and one warrant to purchase a 

common share of the company, exercisable at $0.05 until January 15, 2015. 

 (ii) The company issued 6,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.03 per share. 

 (iii) The company issued 5,390,000 common shares at a price of $0.10 per share. Of these 

shares, 65,000 ($6,500) were not fully paid at December 31, 2010. In addition, as of 

period end, the company had received funds totalling $104,966 for shares issued 

subsequent to December 31, 2010. This amount, less the $6,500, is shown as prepaid 

share subscriptions on the consolidated statements of financial position. 

 (iv) The company issued 2,500,000 common shares at a value of $30,000 to acquire the 

mineral exploration license for Stephens Lake (note 8(b)). 

 

(b)  In 2011, the company issued further common shares as follows: 

 

 
(i) In January, 2011, the company closed a non-brokered private placement financing of 

6,635,000 common shares at $0.10 per share for total cash consideration of $663,500. 

 
(ii) As part of the acquisition of the shares of 1830953 Ontario Inc. in July, 2011 (see note 4), 

the company issued a further 4,674,200 shares valued at $467,420. 

 
(iii) In October, 2011, the company closed a non-brokered private placement financing of 

4,000,000 common shares at $0.25 per share for total cash consideration of $1,000,000. 
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11. STOCK OPTIONS AND SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 
  
The company's shareholders have approved a stock option plan, the purposes of which are to 
encourage common share ownership in the company for directors, officers, consultants and 
employees, to provide additional incentive for superior performance by such individuals and to enable
the company to attract and retain valued directors, officers and employees. 
 
On July 27, 2011, the Board of Directors approved the grant of 1,200,000 options exercisable at $0.15
per option, expiring by July 27, 2011. 900,000 of the options vest immediately, with the remainder of
300,000 vesting as follows: 1/3 immediately, 1/3 after one year and 1/3 after two years. As at
December 31, 2011, no options have been exercised and 1,000,000 are exercisable. 
 
The stock option continuity for the year is as follows: 

  Options Exercise price
 

 
  

 Section 1 
 Balance - January 1, 2011   -  $ -   

 Granted in year   1,200,000   0.15   
 

 
  

 Balance - December 31, 2011  1,200,000  $ 0.15 
 

 

  

The fair value of the options has been calculated with the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Using 
the assumptions of: (1) risk free interest rate of 1.3% (2) expected volatility of 132%, (3) expected life of
2.59 years, and (4) dividend yield of 0.0%, the fair value attributed to each option was $0.11. 
 
The company recognized an expense for share based payments in the year of $119,167. 

 
12. WARRANTS 
  Warrants Exercise price
 

 
  

 Balance - May 31, 2010 
  Issued in July, 2010   8,000,000 $ 0.05
  Issued in July, 2011   375,000  0.25
 

 
  

 Balance - December 31, 2011  8,375,000 $ 0.06
 

 

  

(a) Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share. The warrants issued in July, 
2010 expire by January 15, 2015, while the warrants issued in July, 2011 expire by May 1, 2012.

(b) The fair value of the warrants issued in July, 2010 has been calculated under the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing method. Using the assumptions of (1) Risk free interest rate of 3.5% (2) 
expected volatility of 67%, (3) expected life of 4.5 years, and (4) dividend yield of 0.0%, the fair 
value attributed to each warrant was $0.002, or $16,000 in aggregate. 

(c) The fair value of the warrants issued in July, 2011 (as part of the acquisition of 1830953 Ontario 
Inc.) has been calculated under the Black-Scholes option-pricing method. Using the assumptions 
of (1) Risk free interest rate of 1.3% (2) expected volatility of 83%, (3) expected life of 0.77 years,
and (4) dividend yield of 0.0%, the fair value attributed to each warrant was $0.002, or $7,500 in 
aggregate.  

(d) The cumulative value attributable to warrants as at December 31, 2011 was $23,500
(2010 - $16,000). 

(e) To date, no warrants have expired, been exercised or cancelled. 
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13. INCOME TAXES 

The following table reconciles the expected income tax recovery at the Canadian federal and provincial 
statutory rate of 28.25% (2010 - 30%) to the amount recognized in the statement of operations: 
         

  2011 2010 

Net loss before recovery of income taxes $ 

            

1,451,777  $          (100,405) 

Expected income tax recovery $    (410,127) $            (30,122) 

Increase (decrease) resulting from: 
    Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 
 

          392,270  

 

              23,029  

Difference in foreign tax rates and FX (gain) loss on translation 
of tax basis  

 

                

(77,545) 

 

- 

Change in future tax rates and other adjustments 
 

             61,272  

 

- 

Tax attributes (recognized) reversed in current year                34,130                    7,093  

Income tax reflected in consolidated statements of loss 
and comprehensive loss $ 

                              

-  $ 

                         

-  

     The 2011 statutory tax rate of 28.25% differs from the 2010 statutory tax rate of 30% because of the reduction 
in both federal and Ontario substantively enacted tax rates. 
 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets 

    
     Deferred income taxes are provided as a result of temporary differences that arise due to the differences 

between the income tax values and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities.  Deferred income tax assets 
have not been recognized in respect of the following items: 
 

   2011   2010 

Canadian non-capital losses carried forward $ 332,888  $ 49,910  
Foreign non-capital losses carried forward $ 533,279  $ - 
Deductible temporary differences $ 565,201  $ 18,273  

     Foreign non-capital losses expire in 2016, Canadian non-capital losses expire as noted below. The deductible 
temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognized 
in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
group can utilize the benefits therefrom. 
 
The Company's Canadian non-capital income tax losses expire as follows:  

  2030 

 

 $          49,910  

  2031 

 

282,978  

      $        332,888  
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14. LOSS PER SHARE 
 
The weighted average number of shares outstanding for the 2011 year is 30,945,000 
(2010 - 12,139,000). Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share as all options and warrants 
are anti-dilutive. 

 
15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
The company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(including interest rate, currency and fair value). Risk management is carried out by the company's 
management team with guidance from the Audit Committee under policies approved by the Board of 
Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular guidance for overall risk management. 
 
(a) Credit risk 
 Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment 

obligations. The company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and accounts receivable. 
Financial instruments included in accounts receivable consist of HST and accrued interest on the 
company's term deposits.  
 
As at December 31, 2011, cash of $751,419 (2010 - $204,604) is held with reputable financial 
institutions from which management believes the risk of loss to be minimal. As the majority of the 
accounts receivable consists of refundable HST, management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to accounts receivable is negligible. 

  
(b) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obligations 
when they become due, or can only do so at excessive cost (see note 1(c)). The company's 
approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
liabilities when due. As at December 31, 2011, the company has working capital of $1,526,050 
(December 31, 2010 - $728,594). All of the company's financial liabilities have contractual 
maturities of less than 90 days and are subject to normal trade terms. 
 

(c) Mineral property risk 
 
The company’s operations in the DRC are exposed to various levels of political risk and 
uncertainties, including political and economic instability, government regulations relating to 
exploration and mining, military repression and civil disorder, all or any of which may have a 
material adverse impact on the company’s activities or may result in impairment in or loss of part 
or all of the company's assets. 
 

(d) Interest rate risk 
  

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. As at December 31, 2011, the company has 
certain cash balances that earn no interest, $580,855 of term deposits at December 31, 2011 that 
earn interest of 1.3% and no interest-bearing debt, its interest rate risk is considered nominal. 
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED 
 
(e) Sensitivity analysis 
  

The company operates in Canada and has a presentation and functional currency of CAD dollars. 
The company also operates in the DRC where the functional currency is the US dollar. It is 
therefore subject to foreign exchange fluctuations against the CAD dollar on the USD 
denominated cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the DRC. The company funds 
exploration and administrative expenses in the DRC on a cash call basis using US dollar currency 
converted from its Canadian dollar bank accounts held in Canada. Sensitivity to a plus or minus 
10% change in the foreign exchange rate on the advances to the DRC operations would affect net 
comprehensive income by approximately $25,280. 
 

(f) Fair value hierarchy 
 

 All of the company’s existing financial instruments are classified as either loans and receivables or 
other financial liabilities, both of which are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.   
 
The carrying amount of loans and receivables and other financial liabilities approximate their fair 
values due to their short-term nature 
 

16. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The company's objective when managing capital is to maintain adequate levels of funding to support 
development of its exploration projects, to expand regional exploration activities within DRC and to 
maintain corporate and administrative functions. The company considers its capital to be its 
shareholders’ equity (currently a deficiency). The company manages its capital structure in an effort to 
provide sufficient funding for its development projects. Funds are primarily secured through equity 
capital raised by way of private placements.  
 
There can be no assurances that the company will be able to continue raising equity capital in this 
manner. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 
management, but rather relies on the expertise of the company's management to sustain future 
development of the business. Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing 
basis and believes that this approach, given the relative size of the company, is reasonable. There have 
been no changes in the company's approach to capital management since the year-end. The company is 
not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
17.  SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

  
The company conducts its business in a single operating segment consisting of the exploration 
activities in DRC and the Stephens Lake Project. All expenditures for the year ended December 31, 
2011, related to the DRC operations with the exception of $18,511 as described in note 8(b). There are 
no assets recognized for the Stephens Lake Project. 
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The company paid total fees of $68,500 (2010 - $3,500) to a company controlled by a shareholder and 
director for management and administrative services, including compensation for the CFO and 
corporate secretary, office rent and regular administrative functions.  
 

19. COMMITMENTS 
 
(a) The company is obligated to pay annual land taxes with respect to its mining license in the DRC of 

USD $0.04 per hectare (approximately USD $2,500). 
 

(b) The company is committed to a minimum annual work requirement on its Stephens Lake 
property as described in note 8(b). 
 

(c) The company's management contract is on a monthly basis with a six-month notice period. 
Subsequent to year-end, the monthly fee approved by the Board of Directors was increased to 
$17,500. 
 

(d) An officer and director of the company has a consulting agreement that pays USD $10,000 per 
month with an initial two-year term that expires in July, 2013. 
 

 
20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
License acquisitions - DRC 
 
During the first quarter of 2012, the company closed on the purchase of new licenses in the DRC, 
consisting of two licences for total consideration of USD $200,000 and a third license for total cash 
consideration of USD $150,000. 
 
The respective licenses are still in the process of being formally registered with the government 
authorities in the DRC. 
 
Stephens Lake property, Manitoba 
 
Subsequent to year-end, with respect to the obligations arising by the anniversary date of February 5, 
2012, the company made a further cash payment of CAD $37,023 to the Province of Manitoba in lieu 
of actual work being performed. 
 
Investor Relations Contract 
 
On April 9, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement with CHF Investor Relations (“CHF”) for 
the provision of investor relations and market-making services.  The agreement with CHF is for a 
period of twelve months and may be renewed quarterly thereafter.  CHF will receive a monthly fee of 
$4,600.  In addition, CHF has been granted 370,000 stock options. 185,000 of these options may be 
exercised at $0.25 per Common Share and 185,000 at $0.35 per Common Share.  The options expire 
on April 8, 2017 and will vest quarterly over a period of one year from the date of grant. 
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21. FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS 
 
Under IFRS 1 ‘First time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’, IFRS is applied 
retrospectively at the transition date with all adjustments to assets and liabilities as previously reported 
under Canadian GAAP taken to retained earnings unless certain exemptions are applied. The company has 
followed the recommendations in IFRS-1 'First-time adoption of IFRS', in preparing its transitional 
statements. IFRS 1 provides specific one-time choices and mandates specific one-time exceptions with 
respect to first-time adoption of IFRS. 
 
The company has not prepared an opening statement of financial position as at May 31, 2010, its date of 
incorporation, as the only balance outstanding at that date was $1 in cash received from the subscription 
on incorporation of $1 of common shares. 
 
Explanatory notes to the following IFRS reconciliations are as follows: 
 
(a) Under Canadian GAAP – Prior to 2011, the company applied a policy of deferring the cost of 

mineral properties and their related exploration and development costs until the properties are placed 
into production, sold or abandoned. These costs would be amortized over the estimated useful life of 
the properties following the commencement of production. Cost includes both the cash 
consideration as well as the fair market value of any securities issued on the acquisition of mineral 
properties. Properties acquired under option agreements or joint ventures, whereby payments were 
made at the sole discretion of the company, were recorded in the accounts at such time as the 
payments are made. The proceeds from property options granted reduced the cost of the related 
property and any excess over cost is applied to income. 
 
Under IFRS – Acquisition, exploration and evaluation expenditures for each property can be  
expensed as incurred, until such time as it has been determined that a property has economically 
recoverable reserves, in which case subsequent exploration costs and the costs incurred to develop a 
property are capitalized into property, plant and equipment. 
 

(b) Under Canadian GAAP – Prior to 2011, the company recorded the value of share based payments 
and warrants issued to contributed surplus. 
 
Under IFRS – IFRS requires an entity to present for each component of equity, a reconciliation 
between the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period, separately disclosing each 
change. IFRS requires a separate disclosure of the value that relates to "Reserves for warrants," 
"Reserves for share based payments" and any other component of equity. 
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21. 
 
(c) 

First Time adoption of IFRS – continued 
 
Reconciliation of the consolidated Statement of Financial Position, as at December 31, 2010 
 

 
 

Effect of  
   

Canadian 
transition to  

 
 

GAAP IFRS IFRS  

 
$ $ $  

ASSETS     
Current:     

Cash 
        

204,604   -  
        

204,604  
 

Cash in trust 
        

637,446   -  
        

637,446  
 

Accounts receivable 
            

7,429  
                  

-  
            

7,429  
 

 

        
849,479  

         
849,479  

 

Long term:     

Mineral property 
          

32,223  
         

(32,223) 
                  

-  
Note 
21(a) 

 

        
881,702  

         
(32,223) 

        
849,479  

 

LIABILITIES     
Current:     

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
          

22,419   -  
          

22,419  
 

Prepaid share subscriptions 
          

98,466   -  
          

98,466  
 

 

        
120,885  - 

        
120,885  

 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY     

Share capital 
        

813,000  
 -          

813,000  
 

Contributed surplus 
          

16,000  
         

(16,000) 
                  

-  
Note 
21(b) 

Reserve for warrants 
                  

-  
          

16,000  
          

16,000  
Note 
21(b) 

Accumulated deficit 
         

(68,183) 
         

(32,223) 
       

(100,406) 
Note 
21(a) 

 

        
760,817  

         
(32,223) 

        
728,594  

 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

        
881,702  

         
(32,223) 

        
849,479  
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21. 
 
(d) 

First Time adoption of IFRS – continued 
 
Reconciliation of the consolidated Statement of Loss and Comprehensive Loss for the seven months 
from May 31, 2010 (the date of incorporation) to December 31, 2010 
 

  
Effect of  

   
Canadian 

transition to   

 GAAP IFRS IFRS 
  $ $ $ 
 

Revenues 
                  

-  
                  

-  
                  

-  
 

Expenses     

Exploration expenditures 
          

18,273  
          

32,223  
          

50,496  
Note 
21(a) 

Consulting 
          

10,000  
 -            

10,000  
 

Administrative services 
            

3,500  
 -              

3,500  
 

Professional fees 
          

34,629  
 -            

34,629  
 

Office and general 
            

1,781  
 -              

1,781  
 

 

          
68,183  

          
32,223  

        
100,406  

 

Loss and comprehensive loss for the 
period 

         
(68,183) 

         
(32,223) 

       
(100,406) 
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21. 
 
(e) 

First Time adoption of IFRS – continued 
 
Reconciliation of the consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the seven months from May 31, 2010 (the 
date of incorporation) to December 31, 2010 
 

 
 

Effect of   
  

Canadian 
transition to  

  GAAP IFRS IFRS 
  $ $ $ 
 Operating activities     

Net loss for the period 
         

(68,183) 
         

(32,223) 
       

(100,406) 
 

Change in non-cash working capital balances     

Accounts receivable 
           

(7,429) 
                  

-  
           

(7,429) 
 

Cash in trust 
       

(637,446) 
                  

-  
       

(637,446) 
 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
          

22,419  
                  

-  
          

22,419  
 

Prepaid share subscriptions 
          

98,466  
                  

-  
          

98,466  
 

 

       
(523,990) 

                  
-  

       
(523,990) 

 

 

       
(592,173) 

         
(32,223) 

       
(624,396) 

 

Financing activities     

Proceeds from issuance of share capital and warrants 
        

799,000  
          

30,000  
        

829,000  
Note 
21(a) 

Investing activities 
    

Mineral properties expenditures 
           

(2,223) 
            

2,223  
                  

-  
Note 
21(a) 

Increase in cash 
        

204,604  
                  

-  
        

204,604  
 

Cash, beginning of period 
                  

-  
                  

-  
                  

-  
 

Cash, end of period 
        

204,604  
                  

-  
        

204,604  
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APPENDIX B: MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
 
 



Telferscot Resources Inc., 401 Bay Street, Suite 2702, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5Y 2Y4 

 

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (“MD&A”) 
 
The following MD&A of Telferscot Resources Inc. contains information concerning the company’s business strategies, 
capabilities, financial results and an overview of the outlook for the company and the industry as at April 30, 2012. The 
audited annual consolidated financial statements, together with the accompanying note disclosure, have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the 
company’s audited annual consolidated financial statements for the periods ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. All 
financial balances are stated in Canadian dollars, the company’s functional currency. All public filings of the company are 
available on SEDAR at  www.sedar.com. 

 
The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve numerous risks and uncertainties. Actual results of the 
company could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties are 
highlighted under “Risk Factors” and “Forward- Looking Statements” found in this document, further below. 

 
Overall Performance 

 
Telferscot Resources Inc. (the “company”) was incorporated on May 31, 2010. The business of the 
company is mineral resource exploration and development.  The company filed a prospectus with the 
Ontario Securities Commission, and was approved for trading as a public company under the ticker symbol 
“TFS” on April 12, 2011. Trading officially commenced on April 21, 2011 on CNSX. 

 
The company is focused primarily on its recently acquired project located in the Democratic Republic of 
Congo (the “DRC”). The company’s mandate since inception has been to pursue exploration opportunities 
on a global basis.  Towards this end, in July, 2011, the company was successful in acquiring the rights 
and obligations to earn into a copper-cobalt exploration project located in the Kolwezi district in the DRC 
(the “License). The advancement and development of this asset is the primary focus of the company. 

 
As the company is a development stage enterprise, it has not yet determined whether its properties contain 
reserves that are economically recoverable and the ability to recover amounts from these properties is 
dependent upon a number of factors, including environmental risks, legal and political risks, the discovery of 
economically recoverable reserves, confirmation of the company's interest in the underlying properties, the 
ability of the company to obtain necessary financing to complete the development and future profitable 
production or proceeds from the disposition of the properties. The company is considered to be a 
development stage enterprise as it has yet to generate any revenue from operations. 

 
Although the company has taken steps to verify the validity of the licenses related to the mineral 
properties on which it is conducting exploration and in which it has an interest, these procedures do not 
guarantee such validity. Although management is not aware of any such agreements, transfers or 
defects, the licenses may be subject to unregistered prior agreements, claims or transfers and may be affected 
by undetected defects. The company’s operations in the DRC are exposed to various levels of economic and 
political risk and uncertainties, including currency exchange fluctuations, political and economic instability, 
government regulations relating to exploration and mining, military repression and civil disorder, all or any of 
which may have a material adverse impact on the company’s activities or may result in impairment in or loss 
of part or all of the company's assets 

 
  

http://www.sedar.com/


 
 

 

Capitalization 
 
The following table sets the capitalization of the company as at December 31, 2011: 
 

 
 

Description 
Number of securities 

outstanding 
Common   shares   issued 
and outstanding 

 
37,199,200 

 
Stock options 

 
1,200,000 

 
Warrants 

 
8,375,000 

Total number of 
securities outstanding 

 
46,774,200(1) 

 
(1)  See notes 10, 11 and 12 of audited annual consolidated financial statements for further 

information on share capital and other equity instruments 
 
 
MINERAL PROPERTIES 

 
Kolwezi Project, Democratic Republic of Congo (“DRC”) 

 
 
On July 18, 2011, the company completed its acquisition of 1830953 Ontario Inc. (“Numco”) a copper cobalt 
exploration company with rights and obligations to earn into an exploration project located in the Kolwezi 
district ("Kolwezi Project") in the Democratic Republic of Congo (“DRC”). In consideration for the 
acquisition of Numco, the company issued 4,674,200 common shares valued at $0.10 per share and 375,000 
common share purchase warrants valued at $0.02 per share. The warrants are exercisable at $0.25 per share 
until May 1, 2012. The value of the shares and warrants issued, and net assets and liabilities assumed, totalling 
$474,920, has been attributed to the underlying Kolwezi Project license (the “License”) held by Numco. The 
value attributed to the License was expensed as exploration costs. 
 
 
On July 18, 2011, through the acquisition described in note 4(a), the company acquired a 17% interest in the 
License. A further 13% interest was earned through the post-acquisition expenditure of CAD $515,000 to 
bring its ownership in the License to 30% as of December 31, 2011. The company has a right to increase its 
ownership in the License to 60% through the expenditure of a further CAD $4-million prior to September 
2013. Once the company reaches 60% ownership, either party has a concurrent right to force the acquisition 
of the remaining 40% ownership of the License. The consideration for the final 40% interest will be 40% of 
the company`s issued and outstanding capital at the time the buyout is completed on a partially diluted basis. 

 
The basic terms of the DRC permit are as follows: 
 
Exploration permit:  PR 9090 
Permitted exploration:  Copper, Cobalt and Gold 
Permit Holder:  Miniere du Congo SPRL 
Effective date:  November 10, 2007 
Initial term:  5 years (ending November 9, 2012) 
Renewal:  Exploration permits may be renewed twice for 5 additional years provided the holder of the 
exploration permit relinquishes, on each such renewal, 50% of the perimeter  



 
 

 

Area:  95 carres (approximately 80 km sq) 
  
During the 4th quarter of 2011 and subsequent to the period end, the company advanced funds totaling USD 
$350,000 to the DRC Mining Ministry for the acquisition of three additional research permits in the Kolwezi 
District.  The new permits are in close proximity to the company’s License. The company anticipates 
receiving the final permits in the second quarter of 2012.  

 
Stephens Lake Property 

 
The Stephens Lake property is located in northern Manitoba, about 750 km north of Winnipeg, 175 km 
east - northeast of Thompson and centered about 20 km northwest of Gillam.  Stephens Lake is an early 
stage base metals exploration project.  The Stephens Lake mineral exploration license covers an area of 
approximately 12,000 ha and is currently valid until February 5, 2013. The license may be renewed for an 
additional five years provided certain requirements have been met.  Exploration carried out by previous 
companies is limited to airborne geophysical surveys and one field program where several lines of soil 
sampling were performed.  
 
The company was obligated to an annual work requirement for 2011 of CAD $1.50 per hectare to be 
completed by the anniversary date of the license, which is February 5. In lieu of actual work being performed, 
the company made a cash payment of CAD $18,511 to the Province of Manitoba. The annual work 
requirement for 2012 increased to CAD $3.00 per hectare. The company made a further cash payment of 
CAD $37,023 to the Province of Manitoba in lieu of actual work being performed. 

 
 
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 

 
The table below reflects a summary of certain key financial results for each of the six previous quarters 
(with September 30, 2010 being the first active quarter after incorporation): 

 
 

Description/quarter Dec-11 Sep-11 Jun-11 Mar-11 Dec-10 Jun-10 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Cash, term deposits and cash in 
trust 1,332,274 801,750 1,253,639 1,330,331 842,050 252,547 
       
Exploration expenditures 196,379 880,498 0 18,512 0 50,496 
       
Total other expenses 65,178 170,229 50,438 78,897 29,435 20,565 
       
Comprehensive loss for quarter (261,557) (1,050,727) (50,438) (97,409) (29,435) (71,061) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

Results of Operations 
 
The audited annual consolidated financial statements reflect the company’s financial operations for the 
period from January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011. The comparative figures are for the period from May 31, 
2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2010. To date, the company has raised aggregate consideration 
of $2,943,920 through the sale of its securities and the acquisition of the Stephens Lake and Kolwezi 
properties.  

 
Working Capital 

 
As at December 31, 2011, the company had working capital of $1,526,050 (December 31, 2010 -
$728,594), comprised mostly of cash and term deposits. The company has no cash flow from operations and 
is dependent upon raising equity to sustain its operations and meet the investment requirements of the 
License. 
 
Outstanding Share Data 
 
 The company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares. At 
December 31, 2011 there were 37,199,200 common shares issued and outstanding (2010 – 21,890,000).  
 
At December 31, 2011, there were common share purchase warrants outstanding to purchase an aggregate of 
8,375,000 common shares. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at prices ranging 
from $0.05 to $0.25 per share at expiry dates ranging from May 1, 2012 to January 15, 2015.  
 
On July 27, 2011, the Board of Directors approved the grant of 1,200,000 options exercisable at $0.15 per 
option, expiring by July 27, 2011. 900,000 of the options vest immediately, with the remainder of 300,000 
vesting as follows: 1/3 immediately, 1/3 after one year and 1/3 after two years. As at December 31, 2011, no 
options have been exercised and 1,000,000 are exercisable. 

 
Exploration Expenditures 

 
The company has elected to expense all its acquisition and exploration expenditures under accounting under 
IFRS (see note 2(g) of the audited consolidated financial statements). Exploration expenditures, including 
the acquisition of the PR9090 license, totaled $1,095,389 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011.  
This is compared to $50,496 for the seven months ended December 31, 2010. 
 
Professional Fees 

 
Professional fees for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 and seven months ended December 31, 
2010 were $96,933 and $34,628 are related primarily to the legal costs associated with obtaining a public 
listing and ongoing operations. Professional fees of approximately $50,000 relating to the acquisition of the 
License have been expensed under exploration expenditures. 

 
Management Support and Rent Expense 

 
Management support and rent expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 and seven months 
ended December 31, 2010 were $68,500 and $3,500 respectively (see also Transactions with Related Parties). 
Subsequent to year-end, the monthly fee approved by the Board of Directors was increased to $17,500. 
 

 
Reporting Issuer Expense 

 



 
 

 

Listing, transfer agent and other similar expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 and seven 
months ended December 31, 2010 were $31,323 and $NIL respectively. The l is t ing port ion of these 
expenses for becoming a reporting issuer are primarily one-time expenses. 

 
Share Based Payments 

 
On July 27, 2011, the company announced that a total of 1,200,000 stock options were granted to certain 
directors, officers and key employees. The stock options were granted under the company’s stock option 
program, which was approved by the shareholders on November 18, 2010. The options have a five-year 
term and a strike price of CAD $0.15. 900,000 options vest immediately while 300,000 options vest 1/3 
upon grant date, 1/3 upon first anniversary of grant and 1/3 on second anniversary of grant. Share based 
payments expense of $119,167 was recorded for the year based on the valuation of the granted options using 
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (under assumptions detailed in note 11 of the audited annual 
consolidated financial statements). 

 
IFRS Transition 

 
The company has elected to expense all its acquisition and exploration expenditures under accounting under 
IFRS (see note 2(g)) of the audited annual consolidated financial statements). The impact of this election 
under IFRS for expenditures incurred in 2010 w a s  $ 3 2 , 2 2 3  a n d  was recorded against retained 
earnings as at December 31, 2010 in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 1 “First Time Adoption of 
IFRS”. 

 
Critical Accounting Estimates 

 
The company’s significant accounting policies for the period ended December 31, 2011 are presented in note 
2(n) of the audited annual consolidated financial statements. The preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions. Such estimates may 
have a significant impact on the financial statements. The company regularly reviews these estimates; 
however, actual amounts could differ from the estimates used and may accordingly affect the results of 
operations. 

 
These estimates include: 

 
� The valuation of share based payments and warrants 
� The estimated of environmental rehabilitation reserves 
� The valuation of financial instruments 

 
Financial Instruments 

 
The company’s significant accounting policies regarding its financial instruments are set out in note 2(h) of 
the audited annual consolidated financial statements. The company’s financial instruments consist of cash, 
term deposits, advances to DRC operations, cash in trust and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
Management is of the opinion that the company is not exposed to significant interest rate, currency or credit 
risks arising from any of these financial instruments. 

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 
The company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
Contractual Obligations 

 
The company has minimal contractual obligations over the next five years. The company has an 



 
 

 

obligation for an annual work program on the Stephens Lake property to maintain its mineral exploration 

license.  This obligation is up to date. In addition, the company has significant spending requirements to 

meet to increase its interest in the License. 

 

Furthermore, the company has entered into a business services agreement with Grove Capital Group for 

corporate and administrative support and office space. The terms of this agreement are $17,500 per month 

with six months’ notice required for termination. 

 

Transition to IFRS 

 

During the period January 1 to March 31, 2011, the company commenced using IFRS to report its 

financial results instead of Canadian generally accepted accounting policies. The effective date of the 

transition was May 31, 2010, the company's date of incorporation. Accordingly, the audited annual 

consolidated financial statements for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 have been prepared using 

IFRS and IFRS have been applied retrospectively to amounts for December 31, 2010.  All revenues and 

expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, as well as the 2010 comparative numbers, have 

been presented using IFRS. 

 

Impact on the Business from IFRS 

 

The business processes of the company are simple and no major challenges are expected at this point to 

operate under IFRS. The company has no compensation arrangements that have been affected by the IFRS 

implementation. The company’s stock option plan is not affected by ratios or financial targets. Business 

processes will be monitored during the following months to detect and address any previously unidentified 

IFRS conversion issues. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

To date, the company has financed its operations through the sale of its securities. The company has 

generated aggregate consideration of $2,943,920, of which $2,446,500 was cash and the balance for acquisition 

of its mineral property interests.  

 

During the first quarter of 2011, 6,635,000 common shares were issued at $0.10 per share for cash 

consideration of $663,500. 

 

On October 28, 2011 a further 4,000,000 common shares were issued at $0.25 per share for cash 

consideration of $1,000,000. 

 

The company has no source of revenue, income or cash flow, so it is wholly dependent upon raising monies 

through the sale of its shares to finance its business operations. 

 

The company will require additional funds to support its working capital requirements or for other purposes 

and will seek to raise additional funds through public or private equity funding, bank debt financing or from 

other sources. There can be no assurances that this capital will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable 

to the company, or at all. 

 

Transactions with Related Parties 

 

A contract with Grove Capital is referenced above under the heading “Contractual Obligations”. Grove 

Capital is controlled, in part by an officer and director of the company and in part by a director of the 

company. The company's management contract is on a monthly basis with a six-month notice period The 

company has no additional related party transactions. 



 
 

 

 
Subsequent Events 

 
During the fourth quarter of 2011 and subsequent to the period end, the company advanced funds totaling 
USD $350,000 to the DRC Mining Ministry for the acquisition of three additional research permits in the 
Kolwezi District. The new permits are in close proximity to the company’s License. The company anticipates 
receiving the final permits in the second quarter of this year.  
 
On April 9, 2012, the company entered into an agreement with CHF Investor Relations (“CHF”) for the 
provision of investor relations and market-making services.  The agreement with CHF is for a period of 
twelve months and may be renewed quarterly thereafter.  CHF will receive a monthly fee of $4,600.  In 
addition, CHF has been granted 370,000 stock options. 185,000 of these options may be exercised at $0.25 
per common share and 185,000 at $0.35 per common share.  The options expire on April 8, 2017 and will 
vest quarterly over a period of one year from the date of grant. 

 

RISK FACTORS 
 
An investment in the company’s securities is considered extremely speculative. Prospective investors should 
consider the specific risks that are associated with the business of the company. None of the company’s 
mineral properties are in production or contain a known body of commercial ore. In order to develop its 
properties, the company may require additional financing which may not be possible to obtain. 

 
The business of mineral exploration is generally subject to a number of risks and hazards, insurance for 
which is generally not always available. The company has, or is seeking to acquire, interests in some volatile 
regions of the world which have experienced or continue to experience periods of political and/or economic 
instability including war, terrorism and public disorder. The company’s activities may be subject to extensive 
foreign laws and regulations and the company may become subject to significant liabilities for environmental 
damage resulting from its exploration activities or for any subsequent development. In addition, changes in 
mining or investment policies and regulations which cannot be accurately predicted may adversely affect the 
company’s business. There is no guarantee that the company will obtain all required permits to develop its 
property interests. 
 
The company has certain spending commitments on its properties and it is possible that these commitments 
may not be met in a timely manner for operational, security or other reasons. In normal circumstances, 
the company could negotiate an extension for its contract obligations, but there is no guarantee that it will 
succeed in obtaining such an extension or relief. In such cases, the company would risk losing its 
contractual rights on these properties. 

 
The company is a relatively young organization. Its success will largely depend on the efforts and 
abilities of certain senior officers and key employees. Certain of the directors and officers of the company 
also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies involved in natural resource exploration and 
development and consequently there exists a possibility for such directors and officers to be in a position of 
conflict. See “Conflicts of Interests” below. 

 
Lack of Operational Liquidity 

 
The expenses of the company will be funded from cash on hand from the remaining proceeds of the 
previous offerings. Once such cash has been expended, the company will be required to seek additional 
financing. There is no guarantee that any debt or additional equity or equity related offering of securities will 
be available on terms acceptable to the company or available at all or that it will be able to locate or sell 
copper or cobalt in a timely or profitable manner. 



 
 

 

 
Exploration, Development and Operating Risks 

 
Mining and exploration operations generally involve a high degree of risk. The operations are subject to all 
the  hazards and risks normally encountered in  the  exploration, development and  production of 
precious and base metals and other minerals, including, but not limited to, unusual and unexpected geologic 
formations, seismic activity, rock bursts, cave-ins, flooding and other conditions involved in the drilling and 
removal of material, any of which could result in damage to, or destruction of, mines and other producing  
facilities,  damage  to  life  or  property,  environmental damage  and  possible  legal  liability. Although 
adequate precautions to minimize risk will be taken, milling operations are subject to hazards such as 
equipment failure or failure of retaining dams around tailings disposal areas, which may result in 
environmental pollution and consequent liability. The exploration for and development of mineral deposits 
involves significant risks which may not be eliminated even with a combination of careful evaluation, 
experience and knowledge. While the discovery of copper, cobalt and other minerals may result in 
substantial rewards, few properties that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. 
Major expenses may be required to locate and establish mineral reserves, to develop metallurgical processes, 
and to construct mining and processing facilities at a particular site. It is impossible to ensure that the 
exploration or development programs planned by the company will result in a profitable commercial mining 
operation. Whether a mineral deposit will be commercially viable depends on a number of factors, some 
of which are: the particular attributes of the deposit, such as quantity and quality of the minerals and 
proximity to infrastructure; mineral prices which are highly cyclical; and government regulations, including 
regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and exporting  of  minerals,  
and  environmental  protection.  The exact  effect  of  these  factors  cannot  be accurately predicted but the 
combination of these factors may result in the company not receiving an adequate return on invested capital. 
There is no certainty that the expenditures made by the company towards the search and evaluation of 
copper, cobalt and other minerals will result in discoveries of commercial quantities of ore or other minerals. 

 
Foreign Exchange Rates 

 
The company is exploring copper/cobalt properties in the DRC, where the majority of operating expenses 
are incurred in US dollars. However, the company maintains its accounting records, reports its financial 
position and results, pays certain operating expenses and the common shares trade, in Canadian currency. 
Therefore, because exchange rate fluctuations are beyond the company’s control, there can be no assurance 
that such fluctuations will not have an adverse effect on the company’s operations or on the trading value 
of the common shares. 
 
Competition 

 
The mining and mineral exploration industry and in particular, the international copper industry, is 
competitive in all of its phases. The company faces strong competition from other mining and exploration 
companies in connection with the acquisition of properties producing, or capable of producing, copper. Many 
of these companies have greater financial resources, operational experience and technical capabilities than the 
company. Because of this competition, the company may be unable to maintain or acquire attractive mining 
or exploration properties on terms it considers acceptable or at all. Consequently, the revenues, operations 
and financial condition of the company could be adversely affected. 

 
Insurance and Uninsured Risks 

 
The business of the company is subject to a number of risks and hazards generally, including adverse 
environmental conditions, industrial accidents, labor disputes, unusual or unexpected geological conditions, 
ground or slope failures, cave-ins, changes in the regulatory environment and natural phenomena such as 
inclement weather conditions, floods and earthquakes. Such occurrences could result in damage to mineral 



 
 

 

properties or production facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage to the properties of the 
company or the properties of others, delays in mining, monetary losses and possible legal liability. 

 
The company currently maintains no insurance other than director and officer liability insurance. The 
company may, however, acquire insurance in  the future to protect against certain risks in  such 
amounts as management considers reasonable. While we may obtain insurance against certain risks, the nature 
of these risks is such that liability could exceed policy limits or could be excluded from coverage. Even after 
acquiring insurance, such insurance will not cover all the potential risks associated with a mining and/or 
exploration company’s operations. The company may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover these 
risks at economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be available or may not be 
adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against risks such as environmental pollution or 
other hazards because of exploration and production is not generally available to the company or to other 
companies in the mining and exploration industry on acceptable terms.  The company might also become 
subject to liability for pollution or other hazards which it may not be insured against or which the company 
may elect not to insure against because of premium costs or other reasons. Losses from these events may 
cause the company to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its financial 
performance and results of operations. 

 
Resignation by Key Personnel 

 
The success of the company is highly dependent on the services of certain management personnel. The loss 
of the services of such personnel if not replaced, could have a material adverse effect on the business 
operations. The company does not currently have key-person insurance on these individuals. 

 
Conflicts of Interest 

 
Directors and officers of the company may provide investment, administrative and other services to other 
entities and parties. The directors and officers of the company have undertaken to devote such reasonable 
time as is required to properly fulfill their responsibilities in respect to the business and affairs of the 
company, as they arise from time to time. 

 
Lack of Infrastructure 
 
Mining,  processing,  development  and  exploration  activities  depend,  to  one  degree  or  another,  on 
adequate infrastructure. Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and water supply are important determinants, 
which affect capital and operating costs. Unusual or  infrequent weather phenomena, sabotage, 
government or other interference in the maintenance or provision of such infrastructure could adversely 
affect the operations, financial condition and results of operations of the company. 

 
Regulatory Change 

 
The company may be affected by changes in regulatory requirements, customs, duties or other taxes. Such 
changes could, depending on their nature, benefit or adversely affect the company. 

 
Risks Related to Title to Properties 

 
The acquisition of title to mineral properties is a very detailed and time-consuming process. Title to, and the 
area of, mineral concessions may be disputed. Although the company believes that it has taken reasonable 
measures to ensure proper title to its properties, there is no guarantee that title to any of the properties will 
not be challenged or impaired. Third parties may have known or unknown valid claims underlying 
portions of the company’s interests, including prior unregistered liens, agreements, transfers or claims, 
including native land claims, and title may be affected by, among other things, undetected defects. In 



 
 

 

addition, the company may be unable to operate its properties as permitted or may be unable to enforce 
its rights with respect to its properties. The company may seek to increase the concentration of its mining 
activities in areas where it already operates mines, or has exploration licenses that it expects will result in 
operating mines. If the company seeks to amend its current licenses to include additional resources in the 
area, there can be no assurance that it will be able to obtain the necessary authorizations and regulatory 
approvals. 

 
No Mineral Resources or Mineral Reserves 

 
The exploration of the area encompassed within the company’s properties must be considered to be in an 
early stage. There is no assurance that any mineralization will be discovered in economic quantities, if at all. 
The long-term viability of the company depends upon its ability to find or acquire, develop and 
commercially produce base metals and other minerals. 

 
Environmental Risks 

 
All of the company’s planned operations are subject to environmental regulations, some of which are also 
subject to environmental licensing. This can make the company’s business expensive to operate or prevent 
certain operations altogether. The company is subject to potential risks and liabilities associated with 
pollution of the environment and the disposal of waste products that could occur because of its mineral 
exploration, development and production. Such liabilities include not only the obligation to remediate 
environmental damages and indemnify affected third parties, but also the imposition of administrative and 
criminal sanctions against the company and its employees and executive officers. 

 
To the extent the company is subject to environmental liabilities, the payment of such liabilities or the costs 
that may be incurred to remedy environmental pollution would reduce funds otherwise available to the 
company and could have a material adverse effect on it. If the company is unable to fully remedy an 
environmental problem, it might be required to suspend operations or enter into interim compliance 
measures pending completion of the required remedy. The potential exposure may be significant and 
could have a material adverse effect on the company. The company has not purchased (and does not intend 
to purchase) insurance for environmental risks (including potential liability for pollution or other hazards as a 
result of the disposal of waste products occurring from exploration and production) because it is not generally 
available at a reasonable price. 

 
All of the company’s planned exploration and possible development and production activities are, or maybe, 
subject to regulation under one or more of local and/or federal environmental laws and regulations. Many of 
the regulations require the company to obtain authorizations for its activities. The company must update and 
review its authorizations from time to time and are subject to environmental impact analyses and public 
review processes prior to approval of new activities. It is possible that future changes in applicable laws, 
regulations and authorizations or changes in their enforcement or regulatory interpretation could have a 
significant impact on some portion of the company’s business, causing those activities to be economically 
re-evaluated at that time. Those risks include, but are not limited to, the risk that regulatory authorities may 
increase bonding requirements beyond the company’s financial capability or that of its subsidiaries. Where  
posting of a bond in accordance with regulatory determinations is a condition to the right  to  operate  under 
any material operating authorizations, increases in bonding requirements could prevent the company from 
operating even if it and its subsidiaries were otherwise in full compliance with all substantive environmental 
laws. 

 
Need For, and Availability of, Future Additional Equity Capital 

 
The company’s business strategy will require additional substantial capital investment. To the extent that cash 
generated internally and cash available under any credit facility that may be entered into are not sufficient to 



 
 

 

fund capital requirements, the company will require additional debt and/or equity financing. However, this 
type of financing may not be available or, if available, may not be available on satisfactory terms. If the 
company fails to generate or obtain sufficient additional capital in the future, it could be forced to reduce or 
delay capital expenditures, sell assets or restructure or refinance indebtedness, if any. 

 
The company will need to obtain additional resources in the future in order to execute the company’s growth 
strategy, including the possible acquisition of new businesses and assets. The company may not be able to 
obtain debt financing on terms attractive to it, or at all. If the company cannot obtain adequate funds to 
satisfy its capital requirements internally or through other methods of financing, the company may need to 
increase its capital through an additional equity offering. Sales by the company of a substantial number of 
common shares after the completion of the offering could negatively affect the market price of the common 
shares and dilute existing shareholdings. 

 
Foreign Operations 

 
The majority of the operations of the company are currently conducted outside of Canada in the DRC and 
as such, the operations of the company are exposed to various levels of political, economic and other risks 
and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties vary from country to country and include, but are not limited 
to, currency exchange rates, high rates of inflation; labor unrest; renegotiation or nullification of existing 
concessions, licenses, permits and contracts; changes in taxation policies, restrictions on foreign exchange, 
and changing political conditions, currency controls and governmental regulations that favor or require the 
awarding of contracts to local contractors or require foreign contractors to employ citizens of, or purchase 
supplies from, a particular jurisdiction. 

 
Changes, if any, in mining, exploration or investment policies or shifts in political attitude in the DRC may 
adversely affect the operations or profitability of the company. Operations may be affected in varying 
degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on production, price 
controls, export controls, currency remittance, income taxes, foreign investment, maintenance of claims, 
environmental legislation, land use, land claims of local people, water use and mine safety. 

 
Failure to comply strictly with applicable laws, regulations and local practices relating to m ineral right 
applications and tenure, could result in loss, reduction or expropriation of entitlements. 

 
The occurrence of these various factors and uncertainties cannot be accurately predicted and could have an 
adverse effect on the operations or profitability of the company. 

 
Government Regulation 

 
The mineral exploration activities of the company are subject to various laws governing prospecting, 
development, taxes, labor standards and occupational health, toxic substances, land use, water use, land claims 
of local people, and other matters. Although the exploration and development activities of the company 
are  currently  carried  out  in  accordance  with  all  applicable  rules  and  regulations,  no assurance can be 
given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be 
applied in a manner which could limit or curtail production or development. 

 
Amendments to current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of mining and milling or 
more stringent implementation thereof could have a substantial adverse impact on the company. 

 
Market Price of Common Shares 

 
The common shares of the company currently trade on CNSX. Securities of micro-cap and small-cap 
companies have experienced substantial volatility in the past, often based on factors unrelated to the financial 
performance or prospects of the companies involved. These factors include macroeconomic developments 



 
 

 

in North America and globally, and market perceptions of the attractiveness of particular industries. The 
price of the common shares is also likely to be significantly affected by short-term changes in commodity 
prices, or in its financial condition or results of operations as reflected in its quarterly earnings reports. 
Other factors unrelated to the company’s performance that may have an effect on the price of its common 
shares include the following: (1) the extent of analytical coverage available to investors concerning the 
company’s business may be limited if investment banks with research capabilities do not follow the 
company’s securities, (2) lessening in trading volume and general market interest in the company’s securities 
may affect an investor’s ability to trade significant numbers of common shares, (3) the size of the company’s 
public float may limit the ability of some institutions to invest in the company’s securities, and (4) a 
substantial decline in the price of the common shares that persists for a significant period of time could cause 
the company’s securities, if listed on an exchange, to be delisted from such exchange, further reducing market 
liquidity. 

 
As a result of any of these factors, the market price of the common shares at any given point in time may not 
accurately reflect the company’s long-term value. Securities class-action litigation often has been brought 
against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. The company may in 
the future be the target of similar litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and damages 
and divert management’s attention and resources. 

 
No Dividends 

 
No dividends on the common shares have been paid by the company to date. The company currently plans 
to retain all future earnings and other cash resources, if any, for the future operation and development of its 
business. Payment of any future dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of the company’s board of 
directors after taking into account many factors, including the company’s operating results, financial 
condition, and current and anticipated cash needs. 
 

 
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 
This discussion contains “forward looking information” which may include, but is not limited to, statements 
with respect to the future financial or operating performance of the company, its subsidiaries and its 
projects, timing and likelihood of obtaining government approval for exploration and other operations, the 
future price of copper, exploration expenditures, costs and timing of the development of new deposits, costs 
and timing of future exploration, requirements for additional capital and availability of future financing, 
environmental risks, reclamation expenses, title disputes or claims, limitations of insurance coverage and 
the timing and possible outcome of legislative and regulatory matters. Often, but not always, forward 
looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “is expected”, “budget”, 
“scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, “anticipates”, or “believes” or variations (including negative 
variations) of such words and phrases, or state that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, 
“would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. Accordingly, readers should not place undue 
reliance on forward- looking statements. Forward looking statements involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the 
company and/or its subsidiaries to be materially different from any future results, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by the forward looking statements.  Such factors include, among others, 
lack of access to historic drill core, delays in obtaining governmental and regulatory approvals, uncertainty of 
acquiring necessary drilling permits, general business, economic, competitive, political, social and security 
uncertainties; the actual results of current exploration activities; actual results of reclamation activities; 
conclusions of economic evaluations; changes in project parameters as plans continue to be refined; future 
prices of copper; possible variations of geological parameters; failure of equipment to operate as anticipated; 
accidents, labour disputes and other risks of the mining industry; political instability, insurrection, terrorism 
or war; delays in obtaining financing or in the completion of exploration, development or construction 



 
 

 

activities, as well as those factors discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this prospectus. Although 
the company has attempted to identify important factors  that  could  cause  actual actions,  events  or  
results  to  differ materially from  those described in forward looking statements, there may be other factors 
that cause actions, events or results to differ from those anticipated, estimated or intended. 


